INQUIRY INTO PREVALENCE, CAUSES AND IMPACTS OF LONELINESS IN NEW SOUTH WALES

Organisation: Date Received:

Suicide Prevention Australia 1 November 2024



1 November 2024 Standing Committee on Social Issues Legislative Council Parliament House, Macquarie Street Sydney NSW 2000

To the Standing Committee on Social Issues,

RE: Inquiry into the prevalence, causes and impacts of loneliness in New South Wales

Suicide Prevention Australia welcomes the opportunity to contribute to this inquiry. We are the national peak body for suicide prevention, with over 350 members representing more than 140,000 workers, staff, and volunteers across Australia. We provide a collective voice for service provider organisations both large and small, as well as practitioners, researchers, local collaboratives, and people with lived experience.

Suicide Prevention Australia is concerned about the impacts of loneliness on the risk of suicide in NSW. Although suicide is a complex human behaviour with many risk factors, research demonstrates clear linkages between experiences of loneliness and suicide.^{1,2,3} Suicide Prevention Australia runs a quarterly survey measuring community distress, this Community Tracker data consistently indicates that experiencing social isolation and loneliness is a significant cause of elevated distress in the Australian community.⁴ In addition, Suicide Prevention Australia's 2024 State of the Nation survey identified social isolation and loneliness as one of the top-rated risks to suicide rates over the next 12 months.⁵

Loneliness is a significant issue in NSW with nearly one half of resident's reporting experiencing loneliness.⁶ While loneliness impacts people of all ages, it is a key concern for particular cohorts such as young people, men and older adults. A study undertaken in Australia has identified that nearly 60% of young Australians are worried about loneliness, with 80% of those reporting that loneliness is impacting their mental health and wellbeing.⁷ Research on men's health found that men who lacked close friends or relatives were two times more likely to experience suicidal

⁷ ReachOut. (2022). Craving Connection: The Impact of Loneliness on Young People. Retrieved from ReachOut Report



www.suicidepreventionaust.org

¹ McClelland, H., Evans, J. J., Nowland, R., Ferguson, E., & O'Connor, R. C. (2020). Loneliness as a predictor of suicidal ideation and behaviour: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. Journal of affective disorders, 274, 880–896. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.05.004
² Gvion, Y., & Levi-Belz, Y. (2018). Serious Suicide Attempts: Systematic Review of Psychological Risk Factors. Frontiers in psychiatry, 9, 56. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00056

³ Gomboc, V., Krohne, N., Lavrič, M. et al. (2022) Emotional and Social Loneliness as Predictors of Suicidal Ideation in Different Age Groups. *Community Ment Health J* 58, 311–320 (2022).

⁴ Suicide Prevention Australia. (2024). The suicide prevention Australia community tracker: September 2024. <u>https://www.suicidepreventionaust.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/SEP24-The-Suicide-Prevention-Australia-Community-Tracker-3.pdf</u>

⁵ Suicide Prevention Australia. (2024). State of the nation report: August 2024. <u>https://www.suicidepreventionaust.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/SPA-State-of-the-Nation-Report-AUG24-Web.pdf</u>

⁶ NSW Mental Health Commission. (2023). Loneliness in focus report. <u>https://www.nswmentalhealthcommission.com.au/sites/default/files/2023-11/Loneliness%20in%20Focus%20Report.pdf</u>



ideation in the past 12 months.⁸ In addition, international research has shown that loneliness can be a risk factor for suicide in older adults.^{9,10}

For further background on the international and Australian evidence which shows the relationship between social isolation, loneliness and suicide, we refer the Committee to pages 25-27 of a paper on the socio-economic and environmental determinants of suicide. The paper is attached to the submission and can be downloaded here:

Socio-economic and Environmental Determinants of Suicide Background Paper

Given the well-established link between loneliness and suicide we would like to provide input relating to the following terms of reference for this inquiry:

- (i) Steps the State Government can take to reduce the prevalence and impacts of loneliness in the community
- (j) Steps that community, technology/social media companies, organisations, and individuals can take to reduce impact of loneliness on individuals and the community.

NSW Government action to address loneliness

An important activity the NSW Government can undertake is funding evidence-based "first aid" suicide prevention training for key members of the community who commonly encounter people at risk of suicide, such as those experiencing loneliness and isolation. It is a critical moment when a person discloses their distress or suicidal thoughts for the first time, so it is vital to build suicide prevention skills and knowledge throughout the community.

For suicide prevention to be effective, key people in the community should be actively engaged. This can include clinicians, frontline service workers and teachers, along with members of the broader community who often provide informal support, such as pharmacists or barbers. With appropriate evidence-based suicide prevention training, these connectors within communities can provide vital assistance to help reduce their risk of suicide. One mechanism for enhancing community skills is Suicide Prevention Australia's Learnlinc Platform. This learning platform connects participants with multiple different training providers plus free online resources, allowing users to choose the training that best suits their needs from a range of evidence-based options. Further support such as subsidising training programs could significantly improve the ability of communities to connect and address the risk of suicide.

Recommendation: Make a range of evidence-based "first aid" suicide prevention training more available to key members of the community who commonly encounter people at risk by funding free training accessed through a readily accessible online learning platform.

Whilst there is research and data available that demonstrates the impact of loneliness on suicide risk, research is needed to better identify effective strategies and services to address loneliness and prevent suicide. The Commonwealth Government funds suicide prevention research at a national level through the National Suicide Prevention Research Fund (Research Fund). Suicide Prevention Australia manages the Research Fund on behalf of the Commonwealth Government. Yet, as of 30 June 2025, the Commonwealth Department of Health's funding for this crucial initiative will

⁸ Ten to Men: Australian Longitudinal Study on Male Health. (2023). Research findings: <u>https://tentomen.org.au/research-findings</u>

⁹ De Leo, D. (2022). Late-life suicide in an aging world. *Nature Aging* 2, 7–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43587-021-00160-1

¹⁰ Niu, L., Jia, C., Ma, Z., Wang, G., Sun, B., Zhang, D., & Zhou, L. (2020). Loneliness, hopelessness and suicide in later life: a case control psychological autopsy study in rural China. Epidemiology and psychiatric sciences, 29, e119. https://doi.org/10.1017/S2045796020000335



conclude. An additional \$15 million in the National Suicide Prevention Research Fund will enable Suicide Prevention Australia to deliver an enhanced research program over four years. This should include allocating a portion of this funding for research that identifies effective strategies and services to reduce loneliness and prevent suicide.

Recommendation: Lobby the Commonwealth Government to invest \$15 million in the National Suicide Prevention Research Fund. Part of this funding should be used to identify effective strategies and services to reduce loneliness and prevent suicide.

Community-based actions to address social isolation and loneliness

Community-based programs and interventions should be co-designed with priority populations such as young people, be appropriately targeted to age demographics given protective factors can differ among age groups. Lived experience expertise should be included in all levels of community-based programs (i.e. design, delivery, and evaluation).

Alternative and innovative approaches to addressing loneliness are emerging overseas, including 'social prescribing', which involves the process of healthcare providers referring people in the community to existing community-based non-clinical supports.¹¹ These supports may include social support services, volunteering opportunities, arts activities, community gardens, and community groups.

Recommendation: Create targeted innovative community-based strategies to engage youth, men, older people, and other at-risk demographics in social connections.

Summary of recommendations

- 1. Make a range of evidence-based "first aid" suicide prevention training more available to key members of the community who commonly encounter people at risk by funding free training accessed through a readily accessible online learning platform.
- 2. Lobby the Commonwealth Government to invest \$15 million in the National Suicide Prevention Research Fund. Part of this funding should be used to identify effective strategies and services to address loneliness and prevent suicide.
- 3. Create targeted innovative community-based strategies to engage youth, men, older people, and other at-risk demographics in social connections.

We urge the Committee to ensure that the critical issue of preventing suicide is included in considerations on addressing loneliness. If the Committee requires any further information please contact Steph Trainor, stephaniet@suicidepreventionaust.org

Yours sincerely,

Nieves Murray Chief Executive Officer Suicide Prevention Australia

 $^{^{11}}$ Torjesen, I. (2016). Social prescribing could help alleviate pressure on GPs, BMJ, 352

Socio-economic and Environmental Determinants of Suicide

Background Paper





August 2023

Table of Contents



INTRODUCTION	3
CONCEPTUALISATION KEY POINTS	4
LIST OF SEDS	6
DESCRIPTIONS AND EVIDENCE	6
BULLYING AND HARASSMENT	7
CHRONIC PAIN AND HEALTH CONDITIONS	8
CONTACT WITH THE JUSTICE SYSTEM	9
DAMAGE TO CULTURAL CONTINUITY/CONNECTION	10
DISCRIMINATION AND STIGMA	11
DOMESTIC, FAMILY, AND SEXUAL VIOLENCE	12
EDUCATIONAL DISRUPTION	13
EMPLOYMENT DISTRESS	14
ENVIRONMENTAL DEGRADATION	15
FAMILY AND OTHER RELATIONSHIP DYSFUNCTION	16
FINANCIAL DISTRESS	17
FOOD INSECURITY	18
HARMS OF ALCOHOL AND OTHER DRUGS	19
HARMS OF GAMBLING	20
HOUSING INSECURITY AND HOMELESSNESS	21
IMPACTS OF ADVERSE CHILDHOOD EXPERIENCES	22
IMPACTS OF ENVIRONMENTAL DISASTERS	22
IMPACTS OF THE CHANGING CLIMATE	23
IMPACTS OF TRAUMATIC EVENTS	24
INTERGENERATIONAL/TRANSGENERATIONAL TRAUMA	25
ISOLATION	25
LONELINESS	26
METHODOLOGY	27
CONCEPTUALISATION AND DEFINITION	29
CONCLUSION	32
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS STATEMENT	32

Introduction



Addressing the social determinants of suicide is critical in efforts to help people before they reach a point of suicidal crisis. Although suicide is a complex human behaviour and suicides cannot be reliably predicted, a focus on social determinants targets those who are likely to become at increased risk of suicidality. Despite the importance of this, there has been little work to comprehensively set out the social determinants of suicide. A number of organisations have produced different lists of social determinants of suicide, but there is not an authoritative list, or an authoritative definition that is sufficiently precise to determine a list. Even the commonly used term "social determinants" does not capture the range of determinants that have been identified by evidence as contributing to suicide risk. Economic factors, such as unemployment or poverty, and environmental factors, such as extreme heat and the impacts of natural disasters, are frequently included in lists of determinants. For this reason the term "socio-economic and environmental determinants of suicide" and its abbreviation "SEDS" is used here.

The purpose of this paper is to aid government and community sector organisations that are undertaking strategic planning on addressing suicide. A comprehensive list of SEDS will be set out, giving for each a brief description and a summary of evidence of links to suicide. By providing a comprehensive overview of SEDS it shows the range of areas where work can be undertaken to reduce the risk of suicide. This list will provide the basis for a final report in this project which will set out key recommendations for each SEDS as well overarching recommendations.

This list is based on both a review of the research and extensive consultations with 116 organisations across the range of relevant sectors, and with those of lived experience of suicide. The research and consultations that ensure the list of SEDS is both theoretically and practically grounded is set out in a methodology section.

This paper will also briefly examine and clarify some of the imprecisions in the definition of SEDS and show how it relates to, and is distinct from, other factors that impact on suicide risk. A summary of the key points on the conceptualisation of SEDS is given here, and more detail is provided in the methodology section.



Conceptualisation Key Points



In the course of the research and consultations to develop the list of SEDS a number of key conceptual issues became apparent. It is critical when considering the list to understand how these issues were addressed. So brief summaries of the key issues are given here before the list is presented. However, there is significant complexity in each issue, and so further detail is discussed in the "Conceptualisation and definition" section below.





All the SEDS are heavily interlinked and potentially overlapping, so any attempt to list them risks being arbitrary. To address this, a pragmatic approach is taken of categorising the SEDS in alignment with aspects of the Australian service system. It should be noted that while the list of SEDS is intended to be comprehensive based on current research, it is not intended to be definitive. That is, it is acknowledged that there are other ways of categorisingthe SEDS, and so this list is not definitive but aims to be a useful framework. The intention isthat this list will aid in directing recommendations under each SEDS to the relevant area of government and community services.

Priority populations:



There are significant links between SEDS and priority populations. Some cohorts are populations purely by virtue of experiencing a determinant. (Examples of this includes those experiencing homelessness, those in poverty, and those experiencing unemployment.) These are addressed by the list of determinants. Other priority populations are populations inthemselves. (Examples of these include Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, LGBTIQ+ communities, and those of CALD backgrounds). These populations experience determinants in different ways and to different degrees. The report will highlight ways in which these populations experience the SEDS.



5

Life events:



For this paper a distinction has been made between SEDS and life events. SEDS are an ongoing/chronic state or experience, whereas life events are a point in time risk factor. Theyare closely connected in that life events can result in or be the result of SEDS (such as a case where experiencing relationship strain results in a life event of relationship breakdown which in turn causes a person to experience homelessness). A focus on SEDS facilitates looking at structural issues. Life events will usually be crises and so focusses recommendations on the point of crisis. Because many life events will be proceeded by experiencing a SEDS, a focus on SEDS allows "upstream" recommendations to be made.

Exacerbating factors:



A number of factors were raised in consultations as potential determinants that do not, in and of themselves, cause harm. However, they can act to exacerbate the harms of SEDS. These include the lack of access to services, harms from social media and technology, commercial factors, and access to means. Examples include a lack of access to financial counselling making financial distress more acute, social media widening the reach of bullying, and commercial practices increasing the consumption of alcohol in the home. Although they are not determinants of suicide, they represent important areas for action as the operate across multiple determinants, significant exacerbating factors are described below in the "Conceptualisation and definition" section.



List of SEDS

Based on research and consultations the following list of SEDS is proposed:

- Bullying and harassment
- Chronic pain and health conditions
- Contact with the justice system
- Damage to cultural continuity/connection
- Discrimination and stigma
- Domestic, family, and sexual violence
- Educational disruption
- Employment distress
- Environmental degradation
- Family and other relationship dysfunction
- Financial distress
- Food insecurity
- Harms of alcohol and other drugs
- Harms of gambling
- Housing insecurity and homelessness
- Impacts of adverse childhood experiences
- Impacts of environmental disasters
- Impacts of the changing climate
- Impacts of traumatic events
- Intergenerational/transgenerational trauma
- Isolation
- Loneliness

Descriptions and evidence

Below each of the SEDS, a brief description is given and a summary of evidence of links with suicide is set out.

The descriptions are intentionally high-level, only outlining the key aspects. In many cases there is extensive debates on definitions in the literature concerning the SEDS. It would not be possible to cover this adequately in this paper. Thus, high-level broad descriptions, rather than exact definitions, are given for the SEDS.

The summaries of evidence cannot be fully comprehensive in the space of this paper. Instead, sufficient evidence is given to demonstrate the clear link with suicide. In many cases the extent of Australian research on a SEDS may be relatively limited. This does not necessarily mean a link does not exist, it may mean that further research is needed. To address this the evidence is set out to show the broader international research demonstrating a link, and then show the Australian research indicating that this applies in an Australian context.

Bullying and harassment



Brief description: Behaviour that offends, humiliates, intimidates, or abuses power to cause distress and risk to wellbeing, in any context such workplaces, schools, or online.

Evidence: There are a number of international studies showing links between bullying and suicide. A study in the United Kingdom with children aged 10-13 years found that children involved in bullying, either victims or bully's themselves, are at an increased risk for suicide ideation and suicidal behaviour in preadolescence.¹ A study with 9th and 12th grade students in New York found that frequent exposure to victimisation or bullying others was related to suicide attempts compared with adolescents not involved in bullying behaviour.² Infrequent involvement in bullying was related to increased risk of suicidality among girls. A systematic review also found that any participation in bullying increases the risk of suicidal ideation and suicidal behaviour in a broad spectrum of youth.³ Another meta-analysis found that any involvement in bullying is associated with suicidal ideation and behaviour.⁴ Many of the studies focus on children and young people,^{5,6} especially in schools⁷ and in online contexts.^{8,9} Cybervictimisation conferred a 2-4 times higher risk of concurrent suicidal ideation for face-to-face victimization and other key confounders.¹⁰ There is also research on older populations especially in workplaces.^{11,12}

Australian research linking bullying and suicide also focusses on young people.^{13,14,15} A report by the Australian Human Rights Commission indicates that there are incidents of young people dying by suicide following cyberbullying.¹⁶ There is also research undertaken with older adults aged 52-58 which shows that current and past experiences of workplace bullying increases risk of suicidal ideation.¹⁷ Coronial reports also indicate that bullying in the workplace can cause suicide. A 2008 coroner's report for Brodie Panlock and a 2018 report for Paula Schubert found that workplace bullying was a key factor in their suicide deaths.^{18,19}





Chronic pain and health conditions

Brief description: Persistent and long-lasting physical health conditions, pain, and sleep disruption

Evidence: There is robust international evidence showing that pain, chronic illness, sleep complaints, sleep disturbance and insomnia are important risk factors for suicide. A comprehensive review found that chronic pain regardless of type is an independent risk factor for suicidality.²⁰ A study undertaken in Korea with adult participants found that those with cardiovascular disease, ischemic heart disease and renal failure are more likely to attempt suicide compared to the broader population.²¹ Another study undertaken in Korea found that people living with lung cancer or cervical cancer are ten times more likely to attempt suicide.²² The study found that living with pulmonary tuberculosis increased the likelihood of attempting suicide twelvefold, while renal failure increased the risk of suicide fivefold. A systematic review found that for older adults aged 65 and above, living with a functional disability or a chronic health condition increases the risk of suicide.²³ There is also research showing that children, adolescents and young people living with chronic disease are more likely to experience suicidal behaviour.^{24,25,26} In particular, a study with young people aged between 15-30 found that the likelihood of experiencing suicidal thoughts and behaviours is far greater among those living with a chronic illness.²⁷

Regarding sleep complaints, a study found that among young people living in the United States aged 6-24 those living with a sleep disorder were three times more likely to present to an emergency department due to experiencing suicidal ideation.²⁸ A study undertaken with American adultsfound that sleep complaints such as trouble falling asleep, early morning awakening and hypersomnia are associated with an increased risk of attempting suicide.²⁹ Two systematic reviews also found that sleep disturbance is a significant risk factor for suicide.^{30,31} A study undertaken in the United States found that people who experience insomnia symptoms weremore likely to experience suicidal thoughts.³² Gender may increase risk, as a study with people aged 15 and above in Taiwan identified that insomnia is a risk factor for suicide particularly among females aged 25-44.³³ While another study found that among adults with insomnia experiencing nightmares increase the risk of suicide.³⁴ Research shows that experiencing frequent nightmares is linked to a fourfold higher risk of suicide attempts by men and a threefold increase among women.³⁵

There is also Australian research showing a link between chronic pain and health conditions and suicide. In particular Australian research found that among people aged 16-85 years the odds of lifetime and past 12-month suicidality were two to three times greater in those living with chronic pain.³⁶ Another study which analysed coronial data found that in 2014 nearly 15% of people aged 18 and above who died by suicide where living with chronic non cancer pain.³⁷ In particular, it was identified that older people aged 65 and above where more likely to die by suicide. Data by the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) also indicates that compared with those without long-term chronic conditions, those living with multiple chronic conditions aged 18 and above experience significantly high or very high levels of psychological distress.³⁸ Among Australian adults, sleep disturbance has also been found to increase the risk of suicidal behaviour.³⁹ A study which examined coronial data

found that suicides are more likely to occur overnight and are associated with nocturnal wakefulness.⁴⁰ In addition, a report by the AIHW on the topic of 'sleep problems as a risk factor for chronic conditions' notes that evidence shows that there is a link between insomniaand suicide.⁴¹



9

Contact with the justice system

Brief description: Includes contact with the criminal justice system, all forms of incarceration (including forensic mental health), and family law and custody disputes.

Evidence: There are a significant number of international studies linking contact with the justice system and suicide. A study which examined data from Wales and England found that the suicide rate for males under supervision in the community is six times higher than the general population, and nearly four times higher between males incarcerated and the broader community.⁴² The study also found that females incarcerated or under probation supervision are significantly more likely to die by suicide compared to the general community. A study which assessed suicide risk over three decades among Danish people processed by the national criminal justice system found that nearly a third of all males who died by suicide had a criminal justice history.⁴³ Risk of suicide was particularly high among those with recent or frequent contact and for those charged with violent offences. Research undertaken in Sweden shows that experiences of violent and non-violent offending was linked to a significantly higher risk of odds of suicide.⁴⁴ Another study undertaken in England and Wales found that 13% of people from the general population who died by suicide were in community justice pathways before death.⁴⁵ Suicide risk was greatest for those who received police cautions and those with recent or impending prosecutions for sexual offences. A systematic review also found that people on probation are a very high-risk group for completed suicide.⁴⁶ Deaths in prison custody data found that males incarcerated in England and Wales were nearly four times more likely to die by suicide compared to the broader community.⁴⁷ Another study conducted over a 17-year period found that one third of all deaths in Belgium prisons were due to suicide.⁴⁸ A study undertaken in the United States found that people exposed to police violence also report experiencing suicidal thoughts and attempting suicide.⁴⁹ Young people who are in prison are more likely to report suicidal behaviour.⁵⁰ LGBTQ youth in correctional facilities are at an elevated risk of experiencing suicidal behaviour compared to the general population.⁵¹

There is also a large body of Australian research focused on contact with the justice system and suicide.⁵² Research undertaken with people incarcerated in the Australian Capital Territory's only adult prison found that nearly half of the people involved in the study reported lifetime suicidal ideation and that over a quarter had attempted suicide.⁵³ Another study found that people who have been incarcerated are at an elevated risk of suicide in the immediate post-release period.⁵⁴ The study also found that men who were admitted to a prison psychiatric hospital were three times more likely to die by suicide compared to nonadmitted men both in prison and after release. Australian research also shows that experiencing trouble or contact with the police is a significant risk factor for suicide.^{55,56} There are also several population groups that are at higher risk of suicide. A study found that among a sample of young people in detention, one third reported previous self-harm while

12% reported at least one suicide attempt.⁵⁷ Another study found that nearly 64% of Indigenous males in custody experienced lifetime suicidal ideation, and over half Suicide Prevention had attempted suicide.⁵⁸ A study undertaken in New South Wales identified that female young offenders report higher rates of suicidal behaviour compared to men.⁵⁹ Further research undertaken in New South Wales indicates that one-third of people incarcerated experience lifetime suicidal ideation and one-fifth had attempted suicide.⁶⁰ In particular women and people who identified as Aboriginal were more likely to report a suicide attempt. Data for prison suicide in 24 countries found that compared to Nordic countries and Western Europe, Australia has a lower suicide prisoner rate.⁶¹ AIHW data shows that problems related to legalcircumstances is a frequently occurring psychosocial risk factor in coroner-certified suicide deaths in Australia.⁶² This is a common risk factor for males aged 25-54 and connected with more than 10% of suicide deaths. Over six times as more male suicides are linked to legal circumstances compared to female suicide deaths. Between 1980-1998 nearly half of all deaths in prison custody were from suicide, between 1998-2013 this reduced to a third, and from 2004-2013 suicide caused a guarter of all deaths.⁶³ During 1998-2013, 80% of deaths in prison in Western Australia by Indigenous people were due to suicide, compared to 42% of Indigenous prisoner deaths in New South Wales and 22% in Queensland.⁶⁴ Research undertaken in Australia also suggests that lesbian, gay, bisexual, and same-sex attracted people who are incarcerated are more likely to experience suicidal behaviours.65

Damage to cultural continuity/connection

Brief description: Loss of connection to culture and identity including shared common values.

Evidence: There is international evidence suggesting that damage to cultural continuity/connection is a risk factor for suicide. Cultural identity loss increases the likelihood of suicide among First Nations communities.^{66,67} Research undertaken in British Columbia found that for Indigenous communities rates of suicide are lower where people are engaged in community practices to restore and protect the cultural continuity of these groups.⁶⁸ Another study undertaken in Canada found that in Aboriginal communities there are no incidences of youth suicide in communities where at least half of the members report a conversational knowledge of their own native language.⁶⁹

There is also Australian evidence which shows an association between cultural connectedness and suicide for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.⁷⁰ A report by the AIHW on Indigenous mental health and suicide prevention indicates that protective factors for mental health, wellbeing and suicide include connection to land, culture, spirituality, ancestry, kinship networks, family, and community.⁷¹ A study found that suicide risk for Aboriginal men reduced followed engagement in a traditional art program, a culture-specific therapy for Aboriginal people.⁷² Research has also found that among young Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples who are living in communities experiencing the most disadvantage there are lower rates of suicide in areas which have high levels of cultural connectedness such as cultural social capital and indigenous language use.⁷³



Discrimination and stigma

Brief description: Includes all forms of stigma, racism, discrimination, and prejudice.

Evidence: There are a number of international studies showing links between discrimination and suicide. Several studies indicate that experiencing gendered racism or race-based everyday discrimination increases the risk of suicidal behaviour. ^{75,76,77} A study with Asian American women found that experiencing gendered racial microaggressions is a likely risk factor for suicide.⁷⁸ Experiencing gendered racial microaggressions stress increased the odds of experiencing suicidal thoughts threefold. Another study with African American people found that perceived racial discrimination increases vulnerability to suicide.⁷⁹

Research has found that for Black adults but not White adults perceived discrimination increases suicide risk.⁸⁰ A study undertaken in the United States also found that experiencing LGBTQ-based discrimination has an indirect effect on suicidal thoughts through mental health.⁸¹ An international study which found higher rates of suicide among people who identity as transgender theorised that this is due to minority stress where people experience prejudice for who they are.⁸²

There are also numerous studies linking suicide with different types of stigma such as weight stigma,⁸³ mental illness stigma,⁸⁴ self-stigma⁸⁵ and LGBTQI+ stigma.^{86,87,88} In particular, among lesbian, gay and bisexual youth stigma anddiscrimination experiences are associated with increased suicidality.⁸⁹ Research also finds that HIV positive gay and bisexual men experience significant levels of stigma which increases the risk of suicide.⁹⁰ For people who are suicidal and suicide attempt survivors, suicide stigma can also increase suicidality.^{91,92}

Comparatively, there is limited Australian research on suicide stigma, and racism. A study found that for young Aboriginal people aged 16-20 experiencing racism increased suicide risk.⁹³ Research by SBS suggests that racism is a contributing factor in youth suicide for Indigenous Australians.⁹⁴ Another study found that among Chinese and Australian university students suicide stigma may have an impact on help-seeking intentions and suicide.⁹⁵ Australian research also finds that younger Australians, people of male gender and from culturally diverse backgrounds have more stigmatising attitudes towards people who die by suicide.⁹⁶

Among Australian medical students it has been found that less exposure to suicideis linked to greater stigma, and that students who normalised stigma have significantly lower intentions of obtaining held for suicidal ideation.⁹⁷



Domestic, family, and sexual violence

Brief description: Includes all forms of domestic, family, and sexual violence (DFSV), such as coercive control, sexual coercion, and physical, emotional, and sexual abuse. Both DFSV perpetration and victimisation is associated with suicidality. DFSV can also involve threats of suicide by the perpetrator, and the phenomenon of murder-suicide.

Evidence: There is a large body of international research which indicates a link between suicide and domestic, family, and sexual violence. International research indicates that consistent risk factors for suicide attempts include intimate partner violence (IPV) and having a mother who experienced IPV.⁹⁸ Studies show that suicidal behaviour is prevalent among partner-violent men.⁹⁹ A study undertaken in the United States which examined IPV related suicides found that most were males who perpetrated nonfatal intimate partner violence. ¹⁰⁰ The study suggests that IPV may be associated with 6% or more of all suicides.

Another study found that among racially and ethnically diverse female survivors of IPV one in five had threatened or attempted suicide.¹⁰¹ Regarding coercive control research finds that dominance/intimidation and hostile withdrawal are types of emotional abuse which can lead to suicidal ideation in dating couples.¹⁰² There is also international research on murder-suicide.¹⁰³ A study undertaken in the United States found that two-thirds of perpetrators of murder-suicide had made either verbal or written threats prior, and that the majority where men undergoing separation or who were dependent on substances.¹⁰⁴

There is limited Australian research in comparison. But there are coronial reports which reference instances of murder-suicide.^{105,106} Research by the Australian Institute of Criminology found that the most common type of murder-suicide in 2006-2007 involved a parent killing their child, followed by intimate partner homicide.¹⁰⁷

A report by the Queensland Government indicates there are incidences of First Nations peoples dying by suicide which is linked to experiences of domestic and family violence.¹⁰⁸ A study which examined suicides which occurred in Victoria between 2009 and 2012 found that 42% of women who died by suicide had experienced IPV and that 16% had experienced sexual abuse.¹⁰⁹ The study also identified that many men who died by suicide had experience IPV, or had perpetrated violence within 6-weeks of their death by suicide.

Data by the AIHW found that people who have had a hospital stay due to family and domestic violence where twice as likely to die by suicide compared to a comparison group.¹¹⁰ The majority of murder-suicides which occur in Australia take place in intimate and/or family relationships.¹¹¹



Brief description: Includes study stress, school refusal, educational disengagement, toxic study environment, lack of education, poor academic performance, and academic burnout.

Evidence: A number of European and US studies show a relationship between lower educational achievement or academic performance with increased suicide risk. Research indicates that in the United States people aged under 25 years who have a college degree record the lowest suicide rates while people with only a high school degree exhibit the highest rates.¹¹² The study found that compared to men with a college degree, men with a high school degree were twice as likely to die by suicide. Another study found that in European populations aged 35-79, those with less education are approximately two times more likely to die by suicide.¹¹³ A longitudinal cohort study of people aged 18-33 found that poor school performance predicts suicide attempts among young adults.¹¹⁴

Another study found that poor school academic performance at aged 16 increases suicide attempt risk in young adulthood.¹¹⁵ Poor performance by men at the age of 18 in intelligence tests significantly increases the risk of suicide.¹¹⁶ It was identified that risk of suicide is greatest among those whose parents were well-educated. Research also suggests that experiencing academic stress can increase suicidal ideation.¹¹⁷ Among Chinese graduate students a studyfound that graduation pressure and academic pressure were leading causes of suicide.¹¹⁸ Another study found that among college students experiencing school burnout was a predictor of suicidal ideation.¹¹⁹ Certain population groups such as medical students may be at higher risk of suicide. A study found that approximately 50% of medical students in the United States experience burnout and that 10% experience suicidal ideation during medical school.¹²⁰

Australian studies show similar results. Data by the AIHW shows that suicide risk is greater for people with fewer years of education.¹²¹ In particular, males with no education or only secondary school education are twice as likely to die by suicide compared to males with a university degree. The AIHW data shows that among males with only secondary school or no education the risk of suicide is over three times higher compared to females with the same education. A study undertaken with children at a South Australian high school found that those who perceived themselves to be failing academically were five times more likely to attempt suicide compared to those who perceived their academic performance to be above average.¹²²



Employment distress



Brief Description: Includes unemployment, underemployment, insecure employment, occupational maladjustment, and workplace conditions and stress.

Evidence: Several international studies indicate employment problems can increase suicide risk.¹²³ A meta-analysis shows that experiencing unemployment increases the risk of suicide.¹²⁴ In particular, a study undertaken in New Zealand found that unemployment is strongly associated with suicide death among men aged 18-24.¹²⁵ A meta-analysis found that longer duration of unemployment poses a greater risk.¹²⁶ A study undertaken in Korea found that for middle-aged adults insecure employment and shift work increases the risk of experiencing suicidal ideation.¹²⁷ Another study found that young people aged 18-37 who are insecurely employed or who have unfavourable employment characteristics are significantly more likely to experience suicidal behaviour.¹²⁸

A meta-analysis suggests that job characteristics including low job control, occupational stress and the physical work environment are linked to suicide.¹²⁹ The study identified that specific occupations experience higher suicide rates including medical professionals, military members, veterans, police officers, firefighters and blue-collar workers. Another study found that physicians are an at-risk profession, with women particularly at risk.¹³⁰ Research suggest that work-related burnout may mediate the relationship between experiencing work-related stress and suicidalideation.¹³¹ Research found that during the 2007-11 recession in Europe male suicides rose and this was associated with increases in unemployment.¹³²

There is similar Australian research which indicates that certain occupations are at high risk of suicide. In particular, a study of suicide deaths of veterinarians in Western Australia and Victoria estimates that the rate of suicide is four times that of the broader population.¹³³ An Evidence Check by the Sax Institute suggests that farming and agriculture, veterinarians, medical practitioners, nursing and midwifery, paramedics, firefighters, law enforcement, construction mining, transport industry may be higher risk occupations.¹³⁴ However, research suggests that among construction workers there has been a decline in the rate of suicide between 2001 and 2019.¹³⁵ Junior doctors report that conflict between study/career and family/personal responsibility, and workplace bullying are factors which increase suicidal thoughts.¹³⁶ Another study which used predictive modelling indicates that 9.5% of the 32,000 suicides reported in Australia during 2004 and 2016 may have resulted due to labour underutilisation including unemployment and underemployment.¹³⁷

Suicide Prevention Australia's Community Tracker has found that unemployment and job insecurity are causes of elevated distress in the Australian community.¹³⁸ The AIHW have published data which shows that for males of working age in Australia who are between 25-54 years and are not employed, the risk of suicide is nearly three times greater compared to males who are employed.¹³⁹ For females in Australia who are unemployed the risk of suicide is also nearly three times higher than females who are employed. Males not in the labour force are at increased risk of suicide compared to females. The AIHW data shows that a man not in the labour force is over four times as likely to die by suicide compared to a woman not in the labour force. The risk for men is nearly twelve times higher than an employed woman.



15

Further data by the AIHW shows that problems related to employment and unemployment are key risk factors for those in the working age population.¹⁴⁰ Australian research has also found that for men, an increase in the unemployment rate increases the suicide rate.¹⁴¹ Research has also found that for Australian men psychosocial job stressors such as low jobcontrol, job insecurity, and unfair pay is linked to greater likelihood of experiencing suicidal ideation.¹⁴² A study undertaken in Victoria has also identified that work stressors linked to suicide include business difficulties, recent or previous work injury, unemployment or redundancy and conflict with supervisors/colleagues including workplace bullying¹⁴³.

Environmental degradation

Brief Description: Includes air pollution, loss of green spaces, lack of access to natural environments, and the impacts of population density, environmental noise, and congestion.

Evidence: There are several international studies indicating a link between environmental factors and suicide. Research undertaken in Taiwan and South Korea indicates that exposure to air pollutants can increase suicide risk.^{144,145,146} A US-based study also found that short-term air pollution exposure elevates the risk of suicide.¹⁴⁷ Research undertaken in Canada found that mercury exposure is linked to the high youth suicide rates in an Indigenous community.¹⁴⁸ The study found that sustained exposure to the toxic metal has resulted in a suicide rate three-fold higher than other Indigenous communities in Canada. Research also finds exposure to green spaces may impact suicide and a study undertaken in the Netherlands found that locations with a large or moderate proportion of green space showed a reduced suicide risk in contrast to areas with less greenery. ¹⁴⁹

A study in South Korea found that adults living in areas with less parks and green areas had a 16-27% greater likelihood of experiencing suicidal behaviour compared to those living in areas with the largest number of parks and green areas.¹⁵⁰ This is supported by further research conducted in Taiwan which suggests that maximising green space, and minimising fragmentation and patch distance may reduce the suicide rate.¹⁵¹ Research in Hong Kong also indicates the built environment can impact suicidal behaviour as it was found that higherpopulation density is associated with a higher suicide rate.¹⁵² Numerous studies also suggest that exposure to environmental noise impacts suicide risk.^{153,154} In particular, a longitudinal, nationwide cohort study undertaken in Spain found a robust link between exposure to road traffic noise and railway noise and suicide.¹⁵⁵ Further research conducted in Spain indicates there is a connection between exposure to traffic noise and suicide.¹⁵⁶

There is limited Australian research suggesting a link between environmental factors and suicide. However, Suicide Prevention Australia's Community Tracker indicates the environment and climate change (including drought and natural disasters) are causes of elevated distress in the Australian community.¹⁵⁷ While a report by the Department of Health states that exposure to environmental noise can lead to an acute-stress response, and long-term effects include chronic stress.¹⁵⁸



Family and other relationship dysfunction

Brief Description: Strain, poor communication, and loss of trust across all types of close relationships.

Evidence: A number of international studies show that a lack of warm, supportive family relationships can increase the risk of suicidality. A study with adolescents found that lack of parent support can predict suicidal ideation.¹⁵⁹ Another study with adolescents found that family discord, troubled mother-child relationship, and familial lack of warm can increase risk of suicide.¹⁶⁰ This is supported by a longitudinal study undertaken in New Zealand with young people aged 15-21 which found that those who experienced poor parent-child attachment were more likely to experience suicidal behaviour.¹⁶¹ A study undertaken in the United States also found that parent-child relationships can impact suicidality and that lack of warmth can predict adolescent suicidality.¹⁶² Another study found that among youths aged 11-15 relationship problems, particularly with parents is a common suicide antecedent.¹⁶³ Black transgender and nonbinary young people who report having high social support from their family are 47% less likely to report a suicide attempt.¹⁶⁴ Difficulties in relationships with a partner are also linked to suicide. One study found that the period up to four years before a separation was a time of increased risk for suicidal thoughts and behaviours.¹⁶⁵

Comparatively there is limited Australian research showing a link between family and other relationship dysfunction and suicide. The AIHW includes 'problems in relationship with spouse or partner' and 'disruption of family by separation and divorce' in the most frequently occurring psychosocial risk factors in coroner-certified suicide deaths.¹⁶⁶ A report by the AIHW also indicates that Indigenous Australian children who die by suicide are more likely to live in a non-parental residence. ¹⁶⁷ The report also emphasises that strong and healthy connections to family and kin protect Indigenous Australians from suicide-related behaviour.





Financial distress

Brief Description: Includes income inadequacy, poverty, low income, low socio-economic status (SES), income uncertainty, debt burden, cost of living strain and impacts of the global economy.

Evidence: There is a large body of international research linking suicide and a range of financial difficulties. A study undertaken in South Korea with older adults aged over 65 found that low socioeconomic status is associated with an increased risk of suicidal ideation.¹⁶⁸ Another longitudinal study with older adults aged 60-119 years found that those living in poverty were more likely to die by suicide compared to the high-income group.¹⁶⁹ A systematic review found that low income and financial difficulties are risk factors for all suicidal behaviour.¹⁷⁰ In addition, a Canadian study found that in late adolescence experiencing neighbourhood poverty is linked to experiencing suicidal thoughts and attempts.¹⁷¹ Another study conducted in the United States found that higher county-level poverty is connected with an increased suicide rate among youths aged between 5 and 19.¹⁷² Research indicates that increasing the minimum wage by US\$1 can noticeably decrease the suicide rate among people aged 18-64 with a high school education or less.¹⁷³ Another study undertaken in Japan suggests that likelihood of suicidal ideation reduces as annual household income increases to a threshold of approximately US\$77,000.¹⁷⁴ Debt burden has also been strongly linked to suicide.¹⁷⁵ A meta-analysis found that there is a significant relationship between severe debt and suicidal behaviour.¹⁷⁶ The global economy can also influence suicide rates. Research shows that after the 2008 global economic crisis rates of suicide increased in European and American countries, particularly among men.¹⁷⁷ Research also suggests that in high-income countries, experiencing a rise in economic uncertainty is connected to an increased suicide rate.¹⁷⁸

There is also Australian research showing a link. AIHW data shows that between 2012 and 2016 the likelihood of dying by suicide was higher among Australians in the lowest income group compared to those in the highest income group.¹⁷⁹ Those with higher income uncertainty also had higher probability of dying by suicide relative to those with lower income uncertainty. Australian research shows there was an increase in suicide among both the unemployed and employed during the global financial crisis.¹⁸⁰ Research commissioned by the Salvation Army also suggests that cost of living and financial strain are significant drivers of distress among lower socioeconomic groups and the general population.¹⁸¹ Among Australian young males research finds that there was a marked increase in the occurrence of suicide in low socioeconomic areas between 1979 and 2013.¹⁸² This finding is supported by further research which found that risk of suicide among males in lower socioeconomic groups is greater compared to those in the highest socioeconomic group.¹⁸³ AIHW data also shows that risk of suicide is highest among males from disadvantaged backgrounds.¹⁸⁴ The data also shows that between 2010 and 2021 suicide rates were highest for Australians who lived in the lowest socioeconomic areas.¹⁸⁵ In addition, there is data which shows that between 2017 to 2021 'problems related to housing and economic circumstances' was a common risk factor among males aged 35-64.¹⁸⁶ The Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker indicates cost of living and personal debt are key causes of elevated distress in the Australian community.¹⁸⁷

Food insecurity



Brief Description: Incudes inadequate or irregular access to nutritionally adequate and safe foods.

Evidence: There is international evidence showing an association between food insecurity and suicide. An analysis of national survey data from three Canadian provinces found that suicidal ideation was associated with moderate and severe food insecurity.¹⁸⁸ Another study with adolescents from 44 countries found that food insecurity is associated with suicide attempts.¹⁸⁹ Among adolescents in the United States a study identified that among those who report that the family sometimes or often did not have enough to eat a higher likelihood of attempting suicide.¹⁹⁰ Another study undertaken in the United States with young adults aged 24-32 found that those who were food insecure were more likely to report experiencing suicidal ideation in the past 12 months.¹⁹¹ Supporting this research, another study found that being at risk for food insecurity increases risk of suicide.¹⁹² The study identified that food insecurity can lead to perceives stress and social isolation which can lead to an increased risk of suicide. A study with older adults aged over 65 found that those who are food insecure are more likely to experience suicidal ideation compared to those who are food secure.¹⁹³ Research shows that impacts on suicide of food insecurity remain even after otherSEDS, such as employment status and household income, have been statistically accountedfor.¹⁹⁴

The association between food insecurity and suicide in Australia remains understudied. A fact sheet by Dieticians Australia indicates that food insecurity is associated with a higher likelihood of experiencing suicidal ideation.¹⁹⁵ There is also research which shows that Aboriginal families in urban and regional Australia experience food insecurity on a regular basis and that mild to moderate food insecurity is associated with poor mental health in both children and adults.¹⁹⁶ A report by the AIHW notes that for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities' food insecurity increases psychological distress.¹⁹⁷ Another report by the Australian Institute of Family Studies indicates that food insecure children and adults are more likely to experience poor mental health and lower wellbeing.¹⁹⁸ While a study undertaken in Tasmania found that among young people who attended a mental health service there was a high occurrence of food insecurity demonstrating a link between poor mental wellbeing and food insecurity.¹⁹⁹





19

Harms of alcohol and other drugs

Brief Description: Includes dependency and all harms from use of alcohol and other drugs, impacts on family and friends, and the effects of withdrawal.

Evidence: There is a significant body of international research demonstrating a link between alcohol and other drugs (AOD), and suicide. A meta-analysis found that alcohol use is a potential risk factor for suicide.²⁰⁰ People who engage in heavy alcohol consumption are also more likely to die by suicide.²⁰¹ While a longitudinal population-wide study in Sweden found that alcohol use disorder elevates the risk of suicide among men and women.²⁰² Research also shows that all categories of substance use disorders are linked to an increased risk of suicide, particularly among women.²⁰³ The risk of suicide increases for people living with multiple substance use disorders. A review of the literature indicates that the likelihood of suicide among people living with a substance use disorder is 10-14 times higher than the broader population.²⁰⁴ Among people aged 14 and above a study has found that people who use cannabis and cocaine are 31.5% and 40% more likely to report experiencing suicidal thoughts.²⁰⁵

A meta-analysis also found that for young people aged 11-21 that cannabis smoking significantly increases suicidal behaviour.²⁰⁶ Another meta- analysis found that for young people aged under 18 years smoking tobacco heightens suicide risk.²⁰⁷ Another metaanalysis found that females who smoke tobacco have a nearly three-fold increase risk of death by suicide and males were twice as likely to die by suicide compared to nonsmokers.²⁰⁸ It has been found that the risk of suicide grows by 24% for each increment of ten cigarettes consumed per day.²⁰⁹ Certain prescription medications including drugs used to treat insomnia has been found to increase suicidal thinking and behaviours.²¹⁰ Another study found that the use of sleeping pills or other sedatives may increase the risk of suicide attempt three-fold.²¹¹ A study undertaken in the United States suggests that antidepressant initiation, dosing change and discontinuation of use increases the risk of a suicide attempt.²¹² An analysis of the literature also indicates that benzodiazepines can be used as an instrument of suicide, and that withdrawal is associated with suicidality.²¹³ Research suggests that specific population groups may be at higher risk of suicide. A study in the United States found that a current substance use disorder increases suicide risk.²¹⁴ The study found that this relationship was more pronounced for women.

There is a smaller body of Australian research on alcohol, other drugs, and suicide. The research shows that chronic AOD use and acute AOD intoxication can increase the risk of suicide.²¹⁵ Further, data from the AIHW shows that alcohol use was the second main risk factor among males aged 15 and over for suicide in Australia in 2019. ²¹⁶ In 2021 acute alcohol use was present in 21% of all deaths. ²¹⁷ While psychoactive substances were a risk factor in 15.2% of suicides. Data for all suicide deaths in Australia for people aged 15 and above shows that between 2010-2015 nearly 27% of people who died by suicide were intoxicated.²¹⁸ Research undertaken in Victoria found that among adults experiencing alcohol and/or other drug problems elevated the risk of suicide.²¹⁹ While a study conducted in New South Wales found that among a sample of current cocaine users that 31% had made a suicide attempt.²²⁰ Within this cohort, injecting cocaine users were more likely to attempt

suicide than noninjecting cocaine users. The Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker indicates alcohol and other drugs (including personal use/someone close) are key drivers of elevated distress in the Australian community.²²¹



Harms of gambling

Brief Description: Distress caused by gambling, includes both in-person and online/electronic forms of gambling.

Evidence: There is a body of international research linking suicide and gambling.²²² Research undertaken in Great Britain found that among young people aged 16-24 problem gambling significantly increases the risk of suicide.²²³ Further research conducted in England identified that past year suicidality was reported in nearly 20% of problem gamblers compared to approximately 5% of the general population.²²⁴ A retrospective study found that among those seeking treatment in Hong Kong for gambling 20% reported experiencing suicidal thoughts.²²⁵ Another study found that among people who had received a diagnosis of pathological gambling, 80% experienced suicidal ideation and 30% reported one or more suicide attempts in the preceding 12 months.²²⁶

There is also Australian research on gambling and suicide. Victorian research found that one in five people presenting with suicidality experience harm with their gambling.²²⁷ New South Wales data indicates that of those who seek help for gambling harm, as many as 11% attempt suicide and nearly 37% experience suicidal ideation.²²⁸



Housing insecurity and homelessness



Brief Description: Includes housing insecurity, and issues with housing access and affordability, as well as primary homelessness (people without conventional accommodation), secondary homelessness (people who move frequently between temporary accommodation), and tertiary homelessness (boarding house residents).

Evidence: There is a large body of international evidence demonstrating a broad link between suicide, housing insecurity and homelessness. A meta-analysis found that suicidal ideation and suicide attempt is significantly higher among people who are homeless compared to the general population.²²⁹ Another study undertaken in the United States found that people 21% of people who were experiencing homelessness reported a past-year suicide attempt compared to 6.3% who were never homeless.²³⁰ Another study undertaken in Canada found that experiencing childhood homelessness of at least one week without family members and periods of homelessness longer than six months increases likelihood of experiencing suicidal thoughts.²³¹ A study undertaken in the United States which examined eviction and foreclosure related suicides found that the majority of suicides occurred before the actual housing loss in response to eviction or foreclosure, indicating that housing insecurity due to the prospect of eviction impacted suicide risk.²³² The study found that in response to the United States subprime mortgage crisis eviction and foreclosure related suicides double. There are certain population groups at higher risk. Research undertaken with veterans found that those unstably housed or at imminent risk of housing stability are more likely to die by suicide.²³³

There is also Australian research linking homelessness and housing insecurity with suicide in Australia. Research commissioned by the National Suicide Prevention Research Fund found evidence that housing affects suicide through three channels.²³⁴ Firstly, protracted financial stress due to the cost of housing; secondly loss of security due to eviction, insecure housing, and homelessness; and thirdly through the impact of adverse life events on children and young people on their present and future mental health. The study also found a link between risk of foreclosure and living in high foreclosure neighbourhoods and suicide. Economic recessions, increased foreclosure and evictions are correlated with increases in poor mental health and suicide rates at the population level.

Research undertaken in Queensland found that people experiencing homelessness were twice as likely to die by suicide compared to the general population.²³⁵ The study found that those experiencing homelessness were often male, of young age and unemployed. A study with young people aged 12-17 found that who were homeless or had experienced periods away from home in the preceding twelve months that 45% had attempted suicide.²³⁶ Another study found that the rate of suicide among men who are homeless in suicide is elevated.²³⁷ Data by the AIHWshows that problems related to housing and economic circumstance is one of the most frequently occurring psychosocial risk factors in coroner certified suicide deaths.²³⁸ In particular, the AIHW data shows that problems related to housing and economic circumstances is a common risk factor for men aged 35-64 and linked to 9% of suicides within this age group. Male suicide is four times more likely to be associated with economic and housing circumstances compared to female suicide deaths. The Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker data shows that housing access and affordability are causes ofelevated distress in the Australian community.²³⁹

Impacts of adverse childhood experiences



Brief Description: The ongoing trauma that results from abuse during childhood by family, institutions, contact with childhood protection system, physical, sexual, emotional deprivation, exploitation, and neglect.

Evidence: A significant number of international studies address the association between adverse childhood experiences and suicide. A study undertaken with people aged between 14-35 found that experiencing any type of early trauma increases the risk of suicide.²⁴⁰ In particular, the Adverse Childhood Experiences study which was undertaken in the United States found that adults who were exposed to four or more adverse childhood experiences in childhood were twelve times more likely to attempt suicide compared to those who did not have adverse childhood experiences.²⁴¹ The study shows that there is a graded relationship between the extent of exposure to adverse childhood experiences or household dysfunction and risk of suicidality. Research also indicates that physical, sexual and emotional abuse can increase the risk of suicide by 1.4 to 2.7 times for suicidal behaviour.²⁴² There is also a well-established link between being a survivor of child abuse and suicide in adulthood.^{243, 244} Childhood maltreatment has also been found to increase the risk of suicide in young people.²⁴⁵ Several studies show that experiencing childhood sexual abuse is a strong risk factor for suicidal behaviour.^{246,247} In particular, research shows that after controlling for the effects of other forms of childhood maltreatment sexual abuse in childhood increases the risk of experiencing suicidal thoughts.²⁴⁸

In comparison there is minimal Australian research on adverse childhood experiences and suicide. Although, data by the AIHW shows that in 2019, abuse and neglect during childhood was the leading risk factor contributing to the burden of suicide.²⁴⁹ It was linked to 33% of female suicide deaths and 24% of suicide deaths in males aged 5 and above. A Victorian Parliamentary Inquiry into the Handling of Child Abuse by Religious and Other Organisations in 2012 heard numerous instances of abuse by catholic clergy which were linked to suicide or suicidal behaviour.²⁵⁰

Impacts of environmental disasters

Brief Description: Includes drought, bushfires, floods, and epidemics.

Evidence: There are several international studies indicating a link between environmental disasters and suicide. Research undertaken in the United States suggests that exposure to a major natural disaster leads to an increase in the rate of suicide.²⁵¹ The greatest increase in the rate of suicide is 2-years post disaster. A systematic review also suggests that there is a delayed rise in suicidal behaviours post disaster.²⁵² There are also studies linking epidemics and suicide.²⁵³ Research indicates that during the COVID-19 pandemic there was an upward trend in suicidal ideation and suicide attempts.²⁵⁴

There are also a considerable number of Australian studies discussing the impacts of

environmental disasters and suicide. A study which estimated the number of suicides attributable to drought under climate change scenarios found an increase in deaths among rural men aged 10-29 and 30-40.²⁵⁵ A study undertaken in New South Wales found that between 1970 and 2007 the risk of suicide for rural males aged 30-49 increased by 15% when the drought index rose from the first quartile to the third quartile.²⁵⁶ The Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker indicates that the environment and climate change (including drought and natural disasters) are causes of elevated distress in the Australian community.²⁵⁷

Another study found that in New South Wales a reduction in precipitation by 300mm would increase the suicide by approximately 8%.²⁵⁸ Qualitative research undertakento explore men's experiences following the Black Saturday bushfires shows that several experienced suicidal thoughts following the disaster or knew of others who died by suicide they believed was a result of the disaster experience or the additional pressure of the aftermath. ²⁵⁹ In addition, a survey of volunteers and emergency service personnel involved in the Black Summer bushfires identified that nearly 5% of volunteers and employees experienced suicidal ideation in the year following the fires.²⁶⁰ A study undertaken in New South Wales in 2017 following extensive flooding found that 7% of people surveyed reportedsuicide thoughts following the flood event. People who had their homes, farm or businesses inundated were between two to three times more likely to report suicidal ideation.²⁶¹ Another study which compared the prevalence of suicides after the 2011 Queensland floods to eleven years prior found there was no difference in the rate of suicide six months after the floods.²⁶² It was suggested this may be due to increased levels of social support available during this period.

Impacts of the changing climate

Brief Description: Includes climate change anxiety, impacts of less predictable weather, and increased temperatures.

Evidence: There are several international studies which suggest that the changing climate is linked to suicide. Previous research undertaken in England and Wales found that above 18 degrees every 1 degree C increase was associated with a 3.8% rise in the suicide rate.²⁶³ A systematic review also found that the risk of suicide increases during high temperatures.²⁶⁴ In particular, research found that the suicide rate increased by 0.7% in the United States and 2.1% in Mexico when the temperature rose by 1 degree.²⁶⁵ The study suggests that by 2050 there may be an additional 9,000-40,000 additional suicides in the United States and Mexico caused by rising temperatures. A systematic review indicates that suicide increases in communities impacted by extreme weather events.²⁶⁶ Further, the changing climate may push people to move from sea level to higher elevations and international research shows that people who live in higher altitude areas are at higher risk of suicide.^{267,268,269,270}

There is also Australian research showing that the changing climate may impact suicide risk. A report by Doctors for the Environment Australia indicates that suicide increases in communities impacted by extreme weather events.²⁷¹A systematic review and meta-analysis which used data from Australia shows that suicide rates increase with increased annual temperatures.²⁷² Further research found that when the variance of the monthly average



temperature in the current month compared to the prior month increased by 1 degree there was a 3% increase in the rate of suicide in Brisbane and Sydney.²⁷³ Research conducted in Queensland also identified that far north Queensland has a higher suicide incidence than south-western areas and that warmer temperatures was also a contributing factor.²⁷⁴ Another study found that in Australia a 1 degree higher yearly average across local government areas increased the suicide rate by an average of 2.27 degrees.²⁷⁵ The Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker indicates that the environment and climate change (including drought and natural disasters) are causes of elevated distress in the Australian community.²⁷⁶ In addition a study found that in Melbourne there was an increased suicide risk in months with less rainfall, and that male suicides increase as sunshine increases in spring.²⁷⁷

Impacts of traumatic events

Brief Description: The ongoing trauma that can result from the experience of deeply distressing or disturbing events that overwhelms an individual's ability to cope.

Evidence: Studies have shown links between trauma and risk of suicide in response to a range of negative events.²⁷⁸ Research shows that common forms of trauma including physical or sexual abuse, physical injury, or witnessing violence or death can increase likelihood of suicide.²⁷⁹ A study undertaken in Iceland found that experiencing traumatic life events is associated with suicidality especially among men.²⁸⁰ A study in the United States with veterans found that military sexual trauma (sexual assault or repeated, threatening sexual harassment during military service) is a risk factor for suicide among both men and women.²⁸¹ Another study undertaken in the United States found a higher risk of suicide among previously deployed soldiers compared to those currently deployed.²⁸² Studies also suggest that certain kinds of combat experiences are linked to suicide.²⁸³

Research has found that combat veterans in the United States who witnessed others be killed or woundedin combat were more likely to experience suicidal ideation or attempt suicide.²⁸⁴ LGBTQ youth who experience high levels of trauma are three time more likely to attempt suicide compared to those with no trauma symptoms or low-moderate trauma symptoms.²⁸⁵ Pregnancy loss is also associated with suicide. A study found that women who had experienced miscarriage were 3.8 times more likely to die by suicide.²⁸⁶ Further research has identified that women who have a still birth, miscarriage or termination of pregnancy within one year postnatally are more likely to attempt suicide or die by suicide compared to those who experience a live birth.²⁸⁷ Another study, looking at adolescents, found that experiencing a miscarriage is associated with a two-fold increase in the likelihood of a later suicide attempt.²⁸⁸

Australian data also shows a link between trauma and suicide. Research undertaken in South Australia shows that experiencing a traumatic event increases risk of suicidal ideation.²⁸⁹ AIHW data shows that suicide was one of the most common causes of maternal deaths in Australia between 2011 and 2020.²⁹⁰



Intergenerational/transgenerational trauma



25

Brief Description: Intergenerational trauma emerges when the effects of adversity, such as poverty, colonisation, displacement, neglect, and abuse, are passed from one generation to another. This can be highly prevalent in particular groups such as Indigenous peoples and refugees but can also occur in any family.

Evidence: There is international evidence that traumatic events, such as institutional abuse, can impact not just survivors, but their children as well. Research which examined the impact of colonisation policies and the Indian Residential School system in Canada found that trauma can be passed down inter-generationally. The study found that for First Nation adults having a parent or grandparent attend a residential school (a network of boarding schools for Indigenous peoples) increased their likelihood of suicidal behaviour.²⁹¹

In Australia there is limited research on intergenerational trauma. However, research by the AIHW notes intergenerational trauma is a key risk factor impacting Indigenous Australians social and emotional wellbeing and that one-third of the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community may be affected by intergenerational trauma.²⁹² Research also suggests that the higher rate of suicide among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander populations compared to non-indigenous populations may be due to the effects of colonisation, impacts of historical trauma and grief and burden of intergenerational trauma.^{293,294} In addition, following the suicide deaths of a number of Indigenous children in the Kimberley region within a short period of time the investigating coroner found the deaths were caused by the effects of intergenerational trauma.^{295,296}

Isolation

Brief Description: Includes geographical isolation (living in rural and remote areas), physical isolation (due to disability, immunodeficiency, etc.), and lack of community participation (poor social integration).

Evidence: There is a significant amount of international research linking social isolation with suicide. A systematic analysis indicates that marital status (being single, separated, divorced, or widowed) and living alone are strongly associated with suicidal behaviour.²⁹⁷ Another systematic review found that that social isolation and a lack of close friends or family network increases risk of suicide among adolescents.²⁹⁸ For men, the risk of suicide decreases with increasing social integration.²⁹⁹ Research has also found that among women high levels of social integration is associated with a lower risk of suicide.³⁰⁰ A study undertaken in Canada found that compared to those living in urban areas, those living in rural areas have an elevated suicide risk.³⁰¹ The study found that men living in rural areas where twice as likely to die by suicide compared to their urban counterparts. A qualitative study undertaken with Canadian men analysed the factors underpinning the link between suicide and social isolation. The study identified family dysfunction and estrangement and

marginality, feeling like misfits at school or work, alienation, and provisional acceptance of health care as elements contributing to the link between social isolation and suicide.³⁰² A systematic review found that among immigrants and newcomers social disconnection increases the risk of suicide in the anglosphere countries.³⁰³ There is an association between suicide and living in remote or rural areas. A study undertaken in the United States found that there are higher rates of suicide in less urban areas and lower rates in more urban areas.³⁰⁴ Another study which analysed suicide deaths in the United States between 1999 and 2016 found that suicide rates were higher and increased faster in rural rather than urban areas.³⁰⁵

There are several Australian studies which focus on suicide and social isolation. For Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples the majority of suicide deaths occurred outside capital cities.³⁰⁶ A retrospective study of coronial data in rural New South Wales, South Australia, Queensland and Tasmania from 2010-2015 found that the suicide rate was 11% higher in rural areas and increased with remoteness.³⁰⁷ Another study found that between 1997-2000 across Australia there were higher suicide rates for men in rural areas, and this trend was particularly evident for young men.³⁰⁸ This is supported by a systematic review and meta-analysis which found that for people living in Canada, the United States, the United Kingdom and Australia that men living in rural areas are more likely to die by suicide.309

While another study found that social isolation is one of the most common risk factors identified by Australian men who have attempted suicide.³¹⁰ A study undertaken witholder Australian adults aged 60-101 found that poor social support and living alone is associated with suicidal ideation.³¹¹ The Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker indicates social isolation and loneliness causes elevated distress in the Australian community.³¹² The AIHW Burden of Disease study 2018 indicates that the rate of suicide ionAustralia rises with increasing remoteness.³¹³ AIHW data also shows that in 2021 the rate of suicide among those living in very remote areas was 2.3 times that of the rate for people living in major cities.314

Loneliness

Brief Description: Distress caused by the subjective feeling of being alone, unwanted or lacking social connections.

Evidence: There is a significant amount of international research linking loneliness with suicide. For school-going adolescents loneliness has been linked to suicide, particularly among males.^{315,316,317} Research has also suggested that loneliness may have been a factor implicated in suicides among youth during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdowns.³¹⁸ Qualitative research undertaken to understand the meaning that suicide holds for street youths uncovered that loneliness was a key construct of suicide.³¹⁹ Research has also found that those who experience loneliness during middle childhood are more likely to engage in suicidal behaviour at 15-years of age.³²⁰ Among adults, loneliness has also been found to be a risk factor for suicidal behaviour.^{321,322} Prevalence of suicidal behaviour increases with the degree of loneliness.³²³ A meta-analysis also identified that loneliness is a key predictor of suicidal ideation and behaviour.³²⁴ Research shows that loneliness is also a risk factor for





suicide in older adults.325,326



27

There is limited Australian research which examines the link between loneliness and suicide.However, Data from Ten to Men: The Australian Longitudinal Study on Male Health found that men who report lacking close friends or relatives where two times more likely to experience suicidal ideation in the past 12 months.^{327,328} The Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker also indicates that experiencing social isolation and loneliness can cause elevated distress in the Australian community.³²⁹

Methodology

In the initial research for this project, it was determined that the literature does not provide a consistent authoritative list of SEDS, or an authoritative definition that is sufficiently precise to determine a list of the SEDS.

To develop a list for this project two pieces of research were undertaken:

- A review of the broad range of literature examining the evidence linking particular social determinants with the risk of suicide
- A review of the literature giving lists of social determinants, including academic articles, grey literature, and websites of key organisations

The review of evidence linking suicide with particular social determinants, identified a large number of studies. This research has been incorporated into the summaries of evidence given above.

The review of literature giving lists of determinants, identified a number of pieces of relevant research. However, in most cases it was clear that these lists were not intended to be comprehensive; only a small number of references were given, and the lists were prefaced by caveating terms like "such as" or "including", or stated that the list "is not meant to be exhaustive".^{330,331,332, 333} A number of pieces of research presented lists that were simply social determinants of health, rather than determinants of suicide specifically.^{334,335} In some cases statistical data was given showing that a set of determinants related to suicide, but insufficient information was given on how the determinants statistically investigated were selected and whether these lists were comprehensive.^{336,337}

Although the lists given by these sources contained a number of key commonalities, there was also considerable variation. The differences indicated a need for development of a list based on all these, grounded in the research on links with suicide, and informed by broad consultations with those with lived experience and those with service-provision expertise.

From the above two research reviews a draft list of SEDS was developed. Inclusion on this list was based on whether a SEDS had appeared on multiple other lists, and whether there was evidence linking the SEDS to suicide.

Following the creation of the draft list of SEDS, Suicide Prevention Australia undertook consultations with people lived experience representatives and representatives of 116

different organisations. The majority of these organisations were consulted with in individualonline meetings with one or two representatives of the organisation. In Suicide Prevention addition, two workshops were run with representatives from a number of organisations present. In these consultations, participants were presented with a summary of the research used to develop a draft list of SEDS, and they were asked to give input on the list.

ustralia

As a result of this feedback the list was expanded to include a number of factors where research linking the factor to suicide was limited, but on-the-ground experience indicated a clear link to suicide. Also, a number of the initial proposed SEDS were also reconceptualised as two or more SEDS. For example, the proposed SEDS "Isolation and Loneliness" was split in "Isolation" and "Loneliness" as consultations indicated that the ways of address these issues could be guite different. Many of the SEDS were also renamed and had their descriptions re-worked to take into account feedback from the sector that addresses this issue. For example, the SEDS "Domestic and Family Violence" was changed to "Domestic, Family and Sexual Violence" based on input from organisations working in this area.

This revised list was presented at the National Suicide Prevention Conference 2023 to an audience of over 60 people including representatives from both government and community sector organisations in the suicide prevention and related sectors. Of those attending, 62 completed a survey during the presentation on whether they agreed with each of the SEDS. Following the presentation there was a discussion where audience members were given the chance to make comments on the list of SEDS overall and on individual SEDS. Contact details were also given so comments could be emailed later. Agreement in the survey with the list of SEDS was high, with 14 of the SEDS receiving over 95% of participants agreeing, and all SEDS receiving more than 60% agreement. The subsequent discussion, and emailed comments after the session, explored the views of those who disagreed with some of the SEDS, with issues in terminology, description and conceptualisation being raised. Additional SEDS were also suggested.

Following this consultation, further changes to the list of SEDS were made to address this feedback. The result is the list of 22 SEDS given above. Even with these further revisions it is likely that there will not be 100% agreement with all SEDS on the list. As stated above, the list is not intended to be definitive, and it is acknowledged that other lists are possible. The intention is to create a framework that aligns with the service system so that recommendations can be directed to the appropriate areas of the service system. The relatively high level of agreement with the list indicates that this has been achieved and given the complex nature of the topic is a higher level of agreement than was expected at the outset of this project.

In the individual online consultations, participants were also asked to advise on what are the key recommendations for government actions to address the relevant issue. Suicide Prevention Australia is currently working on the substantial number of recommendations received to identify overarching themes for inclusion in the final report of this project.

As stated above, not only was there no authoritative list of determinants in the research, no authoritative definition of social determinants was identified. Common factors listed or described as "social determinants" of suicide included economic factors, such as unemployment or poverty, and environmental factors, such as extreme heat and the impacts of natural disasters. For this reason a broad terminology was adopted "socio-economic and environmental determinants of suicide" (SEDS).

The lack of a definition of SEDS meant that an important part of the work of determining the list of SEDS was conceptualisation of the term. SEDS had to be distinguished from each other, and from other risk factors for suicide.

The interlinkage of SEDS:

A challenge in conceptualisation for developing the list is that there is a lack of consistency in how particular SEDS are categorised and defined. Different terminologies and descriptions were given, and the different terms used resulted in contradictory overlaps. For example, "isolation", "lack of contact with family", "family problems", "relationship strain", "spousal conflict" and "domestic and family violence", can all be regarded as separate SEDS or as a single SEDS. In this example there is clear overlap between some of the terms, and yet "isolation" and "domestic and family violence" were usually regarded as distinct determinants. Issues similar to this were present for many of the determinants. To address this, a pragmatic approach is taken of categorising the SEDS in alignment with aspects of the Australian service system and accepting that there will be some amount of overlap. For example, "isolation" and "domestic, family and sexual violence" are regarded as separate SEDS, as there are separate service sectors that address these issues. This is intended to facilitate one of the project's key aims of working with sectors addressing these issues to develop advocacy points and recommendations to government.

It should be emphasised that there are multiple ways that the list of SEDS could be divided. Ultimately it is more important that all factors are included and addressed then whether any particular factor is combined with another or kept separate. It is hoped that the current division is practically useful.

Priority populations:

A further challenge in developing a list is the overlaps between SEDS and cohorts at risk of suicide, or priority populations. For this project priority populations were conceptualised as belonging to one of two types. One type are populations purely by virtue of experiencing a determinant ("determinant cohorts"). Examples of this includes those experiencing homelessness, those in poverty, and those experiencing unemployment. The needs of populations purely by virtue of experiencing a determinant are addressed by the recommendations for the determinant they are experiencing.

Other priority populations are populations in themselves ("inherent cohorts"). Examples of these include Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, LGBTIQ+ communities, and those of CALD backgrounds. These populations are not inherently at risk of suicide, but may be at higher risk because of an increased likelihood of experiencing SEDS or other factors. They experience SEDS in different ways and to different degrees. The report will highlight

Conceptualisation and definition



29

ways in which these populations experience these determinants and call for recommendations to be implemented with priority populations in mind. In this it will draw on previous work by Suicide Prevention Australia on identifying priority populations.³³⁸



An important reason to keep these two types of priority population separate is the fundamentally different aims for suicide prevention with regards to these two groups. For inherent cohorts the aims are around reducing this cohort's experience of factors that increase risk of suicide and ensuring that supports appropriate to this cohort's needs are available. For determinant cohorts the aims may include the above, but there is also a primary aim of reducing the numbers of people in this cohort.

Life events:

For this project a distinction has been made between SEDS and "life events". In this paper the reasons for drawing this distinction are pragmatically based on the fact that recommendations to address these two types of risk factors will differ significantly.

SEDS are an ongoing/chronic (though not necessarily permanent) state or experience. Life events are a point in time risk factor for suicide that is usually a loss of some kind, such as bereavement, relationship breakdown, job loss, financial crisis or eviction. (It should be noted that a suicide attempt is a point in time risk factor that is not a loss; and is also different from other life events in that it may be a result rather than a cause of suicide risk. Whether suicide attempts should be included with other life events or are another separate type of risk factor is beyond the scope of this paper.)

The two concepts of life events and SEDS are closely connected in that life events can result in SEDS, such as where a bereavement results in a person losing important social connections and becoming isolated. And SEDS can result in life events, such as relationship strain resulting in a life event of relationship breakdown. Indeed, the two types of risk factors can be part of the kinds of chain of events that lead to extreme suicide risk. For example, an unexpected job loss causing unemployment that then leads to financial strain, which in turn puts a relationship under strain and results in relation breakdown and then isolation.

Addressing both life events and SEDS are important, but the recommendations to address each will often be different. Life events will usually be crises and so focusses recommendations on the point of crisis. It is critically important in suicide prevention to take a situational approach and ensure that targeted supports are made available for those experiencing events known to impact on suicide.

By contrast, a focus on SEDS facilitates looking at structural issues. Because many life events will be proceeded by experiencing a SEDS, which is a chronic state, they represent a window of time to act well before a person reaches a point of crisis. This means a focus on SEDS allows "upstream" recommendations to be made. As mentioned above, the final report of this project will provide such recommendations.

Exacerbating factors:

During the course of consultations a number of factors were suggested for inclusion on the list of SEDS where research does not show a direct impact on suicide. Instead, the research shows these factors as exacerbating the impacts of other risk factors, but do not in themselves create risk. This is different from the case where one SEDS causes another. For example, the SEDS employment distress includes unemployment, underemployment, and

insecure employment, all of which can create financial strain. However, we know that these will not always create financial strain, such as where the person has significant savings or a partner with a high income. And research shows that even when impacts of financial strain are excluded, there is still increased risk off suicide. Employment is often important to self- worth, and so employment distress can damage selfworth impacting on suicide risk.

By contrast, exacerbating factors only increase the risk of suicide by causing or increasing other risk factors. In the absence of these other factors they do not impact suicide. This does not mean that exacerbation factors are not important or should not be addressed. However, they need to be considered separately as the way they are addressed, and the extent to which they need to be addressed, will be dependent on the presence of other factors. Below four important exacerbating factors are discussed.

Lack of access to services: In some consultations a lack of access to services was raised as a potential SEDS. And there are a number of international studies which show that lack of access to healthcare and mental health services impacts on suicide risk.^{339,340,341} However, none of the research attempts to exclude the impacts of other risk factors. Indeed, we would expect that the impact would be entirely due to those who do not have access to services and need them because of the presence of SEDS or other risk factors. The extent to which there is a lack of services in a community is determined by the amount of services, but importantly it is also determined by the extent to which there is a need for services in the community. Different communities will have different needs which will be, at least in part, driven by the presence of SEDS in the community.

Harms of technology/digital environment: A frequently raised possible SEDS was the harms of technology. The was usually discussed in regards to social media, though some of those consulted with mentioned the internet broadly, or artificial intelligence (such as using text-to-text generative artificial intelligence to create a suicide note). Some studies have found a correlation between suicide risk and high levels of social media use,³⁴² or high levels of internet use / cyber addiction.³⁴³ However, research also shows that social media or technology use may not be intrinsically harmful, it may depend on how social media is used.³⁴⁴ And this aligns with comments made in a number of consultations that social media and other technologies can have potentially protective effects against suicide by facilitating social connections or aiding knowledge and access to supports. A number of pieces of research seem to indicate that harms from technology come from its facilitation of contact with other risk factors such as suicide-related content,³⁴⁵ or bullying.³⁴⁶

Commercial determinants: In two consultations our attention was directed to the research on the commercial determinants of health: strategies and approaches used by some private sector organisations to promote products and choices that are detrimental to health.³⁴⁷ This research does include findings that link business practices to suicide, but only through exacerbating other risk factors. For example, business practices that damage the environment and contribute to air pollution which can harm wellbeing and increase the likelihood of suicide,³⁴⁸ or using the COVID-19 pandemic as a marketing opportunity to encourage people to consume more alcohol in their home.³⁴⁹ This area warrants further research and better regulations, but cannot be regarded as a SEDS in its own right.

Increased access to means: A widely acknowledged risk factor for suicide is the extent of access to the means of attempting suicide. Conceptually this cannot be a SEDS in itself as access to means does not drive suicide, it facilitates suicide driven by other factors. Increased access to means represents the lack of a barrier that would otherwise prevent





Conclusion

It should be emphasised that this paper does not claim that the above framework is the only way to conceptualise suicide risk factors. The aim of this paper is not to set out a model of suicide risk, instead it has a more modest goal of setting out a framework that is useful to guide actions to reduce suicides.

This framework stems from the often-made observation that suicide is a complex behaviour impacted by a broad range of factors. This means that reducing suicides requires action outside the suicide prevention and mental health sectors. It is critical that all areas of government and community services are addressing suicide, and that providing support is not only triggered by response to a mental health service contact, diagnosis, or crisis such as a suicide attempt. Because SEDS are experienced chronically they represent a window of time before a crisis point where suicide risk can be addressed, and so directing efforts to reduce the experience of SEDS is critical. To undertake this work, collaboration with the government and community service organisations that address SEDS is key, and so the SEDS framework is designed to align with how the service system is structured.

This framework on its own will not reduce suicides, but it is hoped that it will increase and guide efforts that target the SEDS. To help ensure such efforts occur, future work in this project will look at key recommendations for action in each SEDS and draw out overarching recommendations for action across all SEDS.

Acknowledgements Statement

Suicide Prevention Australia acknowledges the unique and important understanding provided by people with lived and living experience. This knowledge and insight is critical in all aspects of suicide prevention policy, practice and research. As described above, advice from individuals with lived experience helped guide the analysis and recommendations outlined in this paper.

As the national peak body for suicide prevention, our members are central to all that we do. Advice from our members, including the largest and many of the smallest organisations working in suicide prevention, as well as practitioners, researchers and community leaders is key to the development of our papers. Suicide Prevention Australia thanks all involved in the development of this paper.

If you or someone you know require 24/7 crisis support, please contact:

Lifeline: 13 11 14 Suicide Call Back Service: 1300 659 467 www.lifeline.org.au www.suicidecallbackservice.org.au

For general enquiries

References

² Klomek, A. B., Marrocco, F., Kleinman, M., Schonfeld, I. S., & Gould, M. S. (2007). Bullying, depression, and suicidality in adolescents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *46*(1), 40-49.

³ Kim, Y. S., & Leventhal, B. (2008). Bullying and suicide. A review. *International journal of adolescent medicine and health*, *20*(2), 133-154.

⁴ Holt, M. K., Vivolo-Kantor, A. M., Polanin, J. R., Holland, K. M., DeGue, S., Matjasko, J, & Reid, G. (2015). Bullying and suicidal ideation and behaviors: A meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, *135*(2), e496-e509.

⁵ Benatov, J., Brunstein Klomek, A., & Chen-Gal, S. (2022). Bullying perpetration and victimization associations to suicide behavior: a longitudinal study. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 31(9), 1353–1360.

⁶ Gunn, J.F., Goldstein, S.E. Bullying and Suicidal Behavior During Adolescence: A Developmental Perspective. Adolescent Research Review, 77–97 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40894-016-0038-8

⁷ Shireen, F., Janapana, H., Rehmatullah, S., Temuri, H., & Azim, F. (2014). Trauma experience of youngsters and Teens: A key issue in suicidal behavior among victims of bullying?. *Pakistan journal of medical sciences*, *30*(1), 206–210.

⁸ John, A., Glendenning, A. C., Marchant, A., Montgomery, P., Stewart, A., Wood, S., Lloyd, K., & Hawton, K. (2018). Self-Harm, Suicidal Behaviours, and Cyberbullying in Children and Young People: Systematic Review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(4), e129.

⁹ Hinduja, S., & Patchin, J. W. (2019). Connecting adolescent suicide to the severity of bullying and cyberbullying. Journal of School Violence, 18(3), 333–346.

¹⁰ Perret, L.C., Orri, M., Boivin, M., Ouellet-Morin, I., Denault, A-S., <u>Côté</u>, S.M., Tremblay, R.E., Renaud, J., Turecki, G. & Geoffroy, M-C. (2020), Cybervictimization in adolescence and its association with subsequent suicidal ideation/attempt beyond face-to-face victimization: a longitudinal population-based study. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatr. <u>doi:</u> 10.1111/jcpp.13158.

¹¹ Conway, P. M., Erlangsen, A., Grynderup, M. B., Clausen, T., Rugulies, R., Bjorner, J. B., Burr, H., Francioli, L., Garde, A. H., Hansen, Å. M., Hanson, L. M., Kirchheiner-Rasmussen, J., Kristensen, T. S., Mikkelsen, E. G., Stenager, E., Thorsen, S. V., Villadsen, E., & Høgh, A. (2022). Workplace bullying and risk of suicide and suicide attempts: A register-based prospective cohort study of 98 330 participants in Denmark. *Scandinavian journal of work, environment & health, 48*(6), 425–434.

¹² Nielsen, M. B., Nielsen, G. H., Notelaers, G., & Einarsen, S. (2015). Workplace Bullying and Suicidal Ideation: A 3-Wave Longitudinal Norwegian Study. *American journal of public health*, *105*(11), e23–e28.

¹³ Ahmad, K., Beatson, A., Campbell, M., Hashmi, R., Keating, B. W., Mulcahy, R., Riedel, A., & Wang, S. (2023). The impact of gender and age on bullying role, self-harm and suicide: Evidence from a cohort study of Australian children. *PloS one*, *18*(1), e0278446.

¹⁴ Ford, R., King, T., Priest, N., & Kavanagh, A. (2017). Bullying and mental health and suicidal behaviour among 14- to 15year-olds in a representative sample of Australian children. *The Australian and New Zealand journal of psychiatry*, *51*(9), 897– 908.

¹⁵ Hasan, M. M., Fatima, Y., Pandey, S., Tariqujjaman, M., Cleary, A., Baxter, J., & Mamun, A. A. (2021). Pathways linking bullying victimisation and suicidal behaviours among adolescents. *Psychiatry research*, *302*, 113992.

¹⁶ Australian Human Rights Commission. Cyberbullying, Human Rights and bystanders. Available from: <u>https://humanrights.gov.au/our-work/commission-general/cyberbullying-human-rights-and-bystanders-0#fn14</u>

¹⁷ Leach, L. S., Too, L. S., Batterham, P. J., Kiely, K. M., Christensen, H., & Butterworth, P. (2020). Workplace Bullying and Suicidal Ideation: Findings from an Australian Longitudinal Cohort Study of Mid-Aged Workers. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *17*(4), 1448.

¹⁸ State Coroner of Victoria. Record of Investigation into Death. (2008). Case Number: 3625/06. Available from: <u>https://www.coronerscourt.vic.gov.au/sites/default/files/2018-12/panlock.pdf</u>

¹⁹ Coroners Court of Darwin. Inquest into the death of Paula Michele Schubert. (2018). Available from: <u>https://localcourt.nt.gov.au/sites/default/files/decisions/2018 ntlc020 inquest into the death of paula michele schubert d01</u> 782016 25072018.pdf

²⁰ Racine, M. (2018). Chronic pain and suicide risk: A comprehensive review. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 87, 269-280.

²¹ Joshi, P., Song, H. B., & Lee, S. A. (2017). Association of chronic disease prevalence and quality of life with suicide-related ideation and suicide attempt among Korean adults. *Indian journal of psychiatry*, *59*(3), 352-358.

¹ Winsper, C., Lereya, T., Zanarini, M., & Wolke, D. (2012). Involvement in bullying and suicide-related behavior at 11 years: a prospective birth cohort study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *51*(3), 271-282.

²² Kye, S. Y., & Park, K. (2017). Suicidal ideation and suicidal attempts among adults with chronic diseases: a cross-sectional study. *Comprehensive psychiatry*, 73, 160-167.

34

²³ Fässberg MM, Cheung G, Canetto SS, Erlangsen A, Lapierre S, Lindner R, Draper B, Gallo JJ, Wong C, Wu J, Duberstein P, Wærn M. A systematic review of physical illness, functional disability, and suicidal behaviour among older adults. Aging Ment Health. 2016;20(2):166-94. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2015.

²⁴ Butwicka A, Frisén L, Almqvist C, Zethelius B, Lichtenstein P. Risks of psychiatric disorders and suicide attempts in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes: a population-based cohort study. Diabetes Care. 2015 Mar;38(3):453-9. doi: 10.2337/dc14-0262. Epub 2015 Feb 3. Erratum in: Diabetes Care. 2016 Mar;39(3):495. PMID: 25650362; PMCID: PMC4338504.

²⁵ Van Tilburg MA, Spence NJ, Whitehead WE, et al. Chronic pain in adolescents is associated with suicidal thoughts and behaviors. J Pain. 2011;12(10):1032–1039.

²⁶ Barnes AJ, Eisenberg ME, Resnick MD. Suicide and self-injury among children and youth with chronic health conditions. *Pediatrics*. 2010;125(5):889–895.

²⁷ Ferro, M. A., Rhodes, A. E., Kimber, M., Duncan, L., Boyle, M. H., Georgiades, K., Gonzalez, A., & MacMillan, H. L. (2017). Suicidal Behaviour Among Adolescents and Young Adults with Self-Reported Chronic Illness. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 62(12)

²⁸ Carbone, J. T., & Casement, M. D. (2023). Sleep disorders and relative risk of suicidal ideation and suicide attempts in youth presenting to emergency departments. *Sleep Health*, S2352-7218(23)00115-8.

²⁹ Geoffroy, P.A., Oquendo, M.A., Courtet, P., Blanco C., Olfson, M., Peyre, H., Lejoyeux, M., Limosin, F., Hoertol, N. (20210). Sleep complaints are associated with increased suicide risk independently of psychiatric disorders: results from a national 3year prospective study. *Molecular Psychiatry* 26, 2126–2136

³⁰ Bernert, R. A., Kim, J. S., Iwata, N. G., & Perlis, M. L. (2015). Sleep disturbances as an evidence-based suicide risk factor. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, *17*(3), 554.

³¹ Pigeon, W. R., Pinquart, M., & Conner, K. (2012). Meta-analysis of sleep disturbance and suicidal thoughts and behaviors. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 73(9), e1160–e1167.

³² Simmons, Z., Erickson, L. D., Hedges, D., & Kay, D. B. (2020). Insomnia Is Associated With Frequency of Suicidal Ideation Independent of Depression: A Replication and Extension of Findings From the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, *11*, 561564.

³³ Lin, H. T., Lai, C. H., Perng, H. J., Chung, C. H., Wang, C. C., Chen, W. L., Chien, W. C. (2018). Insomnia as an independent predictor of suicide attempts: a nationwide population-based retrospective cohort study. *BMC Psychiatry* 18, 117.

³⁴ McCall, W. V., & Black, C. G. (2013). The link between suicide and insomnia: theoretical mechanisms. *Current psychiatry reports*, *15*(9), 389.

³⁵ Susánszky, E., Hajnal, A., & Kopp, M. (2011). Alvászavarok és rémálmok mint az öngyilkossági magatartás férfiak és nők körében [Sleep disturbances and nightmares as risk factors for suicidal behavior among men and women]. *Psychiatria Hungarica : A Magyar Pszichiatriai Tarsasag tudomanyos folyoirata*, 26(4), 250–257.

³⁶ Campbell G, Darke S, Bruno R, Degenhardt L. The prevalence and correlates of chronic pain and suicidality in a nationally representative sample. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*. 2015;49(9):803-811.

³⁷ Campbell, G., Darke, S., Degenhardt, L., Townsend, H., Carter, G., Draper, B., Farrell, M., Duflou, J., & Lappin, J. (2020). Prevalence and Characteristics Associated with Chronic Noncancer Pain in Suicide Decedents: A National Study. *Suicide & Life-Threatening Behavior*, *50*(4), 778–791.

³⁸ The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Chronic Conditions and Multimorbidity.(2023). Available from: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-health/chronic-conditions-and-multimorbidity</u>

³⁹ Batterham, P. J., Werner-Seidler, A., Calear, A. L., McCallum, S., & Gulliver, A. (2021). Specific aspects of sleep disturbance associated with suicidal thoughts and attempts. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *282*, 574–579.

⁴⁰ Mansfield, D. R., Wasgewatta, S., Reynolds, A., Grandner, M. A., Tubbs, A. S., King, K., Johnson, M., Mascaro, L., Durukan, M., Paul, E., Drummond, S. P. A., & Perlis, M. L. (2022). Nocturnal Wakefulness and Suicide Risk in the Australian

Population. The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 83(4), 21m14275.

⁴¹ The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Sleep problems as a risk factor for chronic conditions. (2021). Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/risk-factors/sleep-problems-as-a-risk-factor/summarv
 ⁴² Phillips, J., Padfield, N., & Gelsthorpe, L. (2018). Suicide and community justice. *Health & justice*, 6(1), 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-018-0072-7

⁴³ Webb RT, Qin P, Stevens H, Mortensen PB, Appleby L, Shaw J. National Study of Suicide in All People With a Criminal Justice History. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2011;68(6):591–599. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.7

⁴⁴ Stenbacka, M., Romelsjö, A., & Jokinen, J. (2014). Criminality and suicide: a longitudinal Swedish cohort study. *BMJ open*, *4*(2), e003497.

⁴⁵ King, C., Senior, J., Webb, R. T., Millar, T., Piper, M., Pearsall, A., Humber, N., Appleby, L., & Shaw, J. (2015). Suicide by people in a community justice pathway: population-based nested case-control study. *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science*, *207*(2), 175–176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.114.154831</u>

⁴⁶ Sirdifield, C., Brooker, C., & Marples, R. (2020). Suicide and Probation: a systematic review of the literature. *Forensic science international. Mind and law*, *1*, 100012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsiml.2020.100012

⁴⁷ Office for National Statistics (ONS), released 26 January 2023, ONS website, article. Available from: <u>Drug-related deaths and</u> <u>suicide in prison custody in England and Wales - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk)</u>

⁴⁸ Favril, L., Wittouck, C., Audenaert, K., & Vander Laenen, F. (2019). A 17-Year National Study of Prison Suicides in Belgium. *Crisis*, *40*(1), 42–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000531</u>

⁴⁹ DeVylder, J. E., Jun, H. J., Fedina, L., Coleman, D., Anglin, D., Cogburn, C., Link, B., & Barth, R. P. (2018). Association of Exposure to Police Violence With Prevalence of Mental Health Symptoms Among Urban Residents in the United States. *JAMA network open*, *1*(7),

⁵⁰ Ruch, D. A., Sheftall, A. H., Schlagbaum, P., Fontanella, C. A., Campo, J. V., & Bridge, J. A. (2019). Characteristics and Precipitating Circumstances of Suicide Among Incarcerated Youth. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *58*(5), 514–524.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2018.07.911

⁵¹ Clark, K. A., Harvey, T. D., Hughto, J. M. W., & Meyer, I. H. (2022). Mental Health Among Sexual and Gender Minority Youth Incarcerated in Juvenile Corrections. *Pediatrics*, *150*(6), e2022058158. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2022-058158

⁵² Willis M et al. 2016. Self-inflicted deaths in Australian prisons. *Trends & Issues in Crime and Criminal Justice.* 513. Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology. <u>https://www.aic.gov.au/publications/tandi/tandi513</u>

⁵³ Butler, A., Young, J.T., Kinner, S.A. *et al.* Self-harm and suicidal behaviour among incarcerated adults in the Australian Capital Territory. *Health Justice* 6, 13 (2018). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-018-0071-8</u>

⁵⁴ Kariminia, A., Law, M. G., Butler, T. G., Levy, M. H., Corben, S. P., Kaldor, J. M., & Grant, L. (2007). Suicide risk among recently released prisoners in New South Wales, Australia. *The Medical journal of Australia*, *187*(7), 387–390. <u>https://doi.org/10.5694/j.1326-5377.2007.tb01307.x</u>

⁵⁵ Clapperton, A., Newstead, S., Bugeja, L., & Pirkis, J. (2019). Relative risk of suicide following exposure to recent stressors, Victoria, Australia. *Australian and New Zealand journal of public health*, *43*(3), 254–260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12886</u>

⁵⁶ Kelly Chidgey, Nicholas Procter, Amy Baker & Carol Grech (2022) Suicide deaths following police contact: A review of coronial inquest findings, Death Studies, 46:3, 675-683, DOI: <u>10.1080/07481187.2020.1758243</u>

⁵⁷ Shepherd, S., Spivak, B., Borschmann, R., Kinner, S. A., & Hachtel, H. (2018). Correlates of self-harm and suicide attempts in justice-involved young people. *PloS one*, *13*(2), e0193172. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0193172

⁵⁸ Shepherd, S.M., Spivak, B., Arabena, K. *et al.* Identifying the prevalence and predictors of suicidal behaviours for indigenous males in custody. *BMC Public Health* 18, 1159 (2018). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-6074-5</u>

⁵⁹ Moore, E., Gaskin, C., & Indig, D. (2015). Attempted Suicide, Self-Harm, and Psychological Disorder Among Young Offenders in Custody. *Journal of correctional health care : the official journal of the National Commission on Correctional Health Care*, *21*(3), 243–254. https://doi.org/10.1177/1078345815584849

⁶⁰ Larney, S., Topp, L., Indig, D. *et al.* A cross-sectional survey of prevalence and correlates of suicidal ideation and suicide attempts among prisoners in New South Wales, Australia. *BMC Public Health* **12**, 14 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-14

⁶¹ Fazel, S., Ramesh, T., & Hawton, K. (2017). Suicide in prisons: an international study of prevalence and contributory factors. *The lancet. Psychiatry*, *4*(12), 946–952. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30430-3

⁶² The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2023). Psychosocial risk factors and deaths by suicide. Available from: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/suicide-self-harm-monitoring/data/behaviours-risk-factors/psychosocial-risk-factors-suicide</u>

⁶³ Willis, M., Baker, A., Cussen, T., Patterson, E. (2016). Self-inflicted deaths in Australian prisons. *Trends & Issues in Criminal Justice,* Australian Institute of Criminology, no.513. Available from: <u>Self-inflicted deaths in Australian prisons | Australian Institute of Criminology (aic.gov.au)</u>.

⁶⁴ Willis, M., Baker, A., Cussen, T., Patterson, E. (2016). Self-inflicted deaths in Australian prisons. *Trends & Issues in Criminal Justice,* Australian Institute of Criminology, no.513. Available from: <u>Self-inflicted deaths in Australian prisons | Australian Institute of Criminology (aic gov au)</u>.

⁶⁵ Hail-Jares, K., Cumming, C., Young, J. T., Borschmann, R., Lennox, N., & Kinner, S. A. (2023). Self-harm and suicide attempts among incarcerated lesbian, gay and bisexual people in Australia. *The Australian and New Zealand journal of psychiatry*, *57*(4), 562–571. https://doi.org/10.1177/00048674221104744

⁶⁶ Graham, S. (2021). The relationship between Māori cultural identity loss & rangatahi Māori suicide. The University of Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand. Thesis, Master of Health, Sport and Human Performance. Available from: https://research.commons.waikato.ac.nz/handle/10289/14511

⁶⁷ Williams, A. D., Clark, T. C., & Lewycka, S. (2018). The Associations Between Cultural Identity and Mental Health Outcomes for Indigenous Māori Youth in New Zealand. *Frontiers in public health*, 6, 319.

35

36

⁶⁸ Chandler M.J, Lalonde, C. (1998). Cultural Continuity as a Hedge against Suicide in Canada's First Nations. Transcultural Psychiatry. 1998;35(2):191-219.

⁶⁹ Hallett, D., Chandler, M.J., & Lalonde, C.E. (2007). Aboriginal language knowledge and youth suicide. Cognitive Development, 22, 392-399.

⁷⁰ Suicide rates for young Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people: the influence of community level cultural connectedness

| The Medical Journal of Australia (mja.com.au)

⁷¹ The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2023). Indigenous mental health and suicide prevention in Australia. Available from: <u>An overview of Indigenous mental health and suicide prevention in Australia (indigenousmhspc.gov.au)</u>

⁷² Rasmussen, M. K., Donoghue, D. A., & Sheehan, N. W. (2018). Suicide /self-harm-risk reducing effects of an Aboriginal art program for Aboriginal prisoners. *Advances in Mental Health*, 1–11.

⁷³ Gibson, M., Stuart, J., Leske, S., Ward, R., & Vidyattama, Y. (2021). Does community cultural connectedness reduce the influence of area disadvantage on Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander young peoples' suicide?. *Australian and New Zealand journal of public health*, *45*(6), 643–650.

⁷⁴ The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2022). Protective and risk factors for suicide among Indigenous Australians. Available from: <u>https://www.indigenousmhspc.gov.au/getattachment/2a25cdd8-d8a7-4373-938f-2aa51a0b4128/aihw-2022-protective-and-risk-factors.pdf?v=1260</u>

⁷⁵ Goodwill, J. R., Taylor, R. J., & Watkins, D. C. (2021). Everyday Discrimination, Depressive Symptoms, and Suicide Ideation Among African American Men. *Archives of suicide research: official journal of the International Academy for Suicide Research*, *25*(1), 74–93. https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2019.1660287

⁷⁶ Perry, B. L., Stevens-Watkins, D., & Oser, C. B. (2013). The moderating effects of skin color and ethnic identity affirmation on suicide risk among low-SES African American women. *Race and social problems*, *5*(1), 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12552-012-9080-8</u>

⁷⁷ Oh, H., Waldman, K., Koyanagi, A., Anderson, R., & DeVylder, J. (2020). Major discriminatory events and suicidal thoughts and behaviors amongst Black Americans: Findings from the National Survey of American Life. *Journal of affective*

disorders, 263, 47-53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2019.11.128

 ⁷⁸ Keum BT, Wong MJ, Salim-Eissa R. Gendered racial microaggressions, internalized racism, and suicidal ideation among emerging adult Asian American women. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*. 2022;0(0). doi:<u>10.1177/00207640221089536</u>
 ⁷⁹ Walker, R. L., Salami, T. K., Carter, S. E., & Flowers, K. (2014). Perceived racism and suicide ideation: mediating role of depression but moderating role of religiosity among African American adults. *Suicide & life-threatening behavior*, *44*(5), 548– 559. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12089</u>

⁸⁰ Brooks, J. R., Hong, J. H., Cheref, S., & Walker, R. L. (2020). Capability for suicide: Discrimination as a painful and provocative event. *Suicide & life-threatening behavior*, *50*(6), 1173–1180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12671</u>

⁸¹ Sutter, M., & Perrin, P. B. (2016). Discrimination, mental health, and suicidal ideation among LGBTQ people of color. *Journal of counseling psychology*, 63(1), 98–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000126</u>

⁸² Erlangsen A, Jacobsen AL, Ranning A, Delamare AL, Nordentoft M, Frisch M. (2023). Transgender Identity and Suicide Attempts and Mortality in Denmark. *JAMA*.329(24):2145–2153.

⁸³ Brochu, P.M. Weight stigma as a risk factor for suicidality. *Int J Obes* **44**, 1979–1980 (2020). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-020-0632-5</u>. Available from: Weight stigma as a risk factor for suicidality | International Journal of Obesity (nature.com)

⁸⁴ Oexle, N., Waldmann, T., Staiger, T., Xu, Z., & Rüsch, N. (2018). Mental illness stigma and suicidality: the role of public and individual stigma. *Epidemiology and psychiatric sciences*, *27*(2), 169–175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S2045796016000949</u>

⁸⁵ Oexle, N., Rüsch, N., Viering, S. *et al.* Self-stigma and suicidality: a longitudinal study. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* 267, 359–361 (2017). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-016-0698-1</u>

⁸⁶Drabish, K., & Theeke, L. A. (2022). Health Impact of Stigma, Discrimination, Prejudice, and Bias Experienced by Transgender People: A Systematic Review of Quantitative Studies. *Issues in mental health nursing*, *43*(2), 111–118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01612840.2021.1961330</u>

⁸⁷ Saewyc, E. M., Li, G., Gower, A. L., Watson, R. J., Erickson, D., Corliss, H. L., & Eisenberg, M. E. (2020). The link between LGBTQ-supportive communities, progressive political climate, and suicidality among sexual minority adolescents in

Canada. Preventive medicine, 139, 106191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106191

⁸⁸ Moallef, S., Salway, T., Phanuphak, N., Kivioja, K., Pongruengphant, S., & Hayashi, K. (2022). The relationship between sexual and gender stigma and suicide attempt and ideation among LGBTQI+populations in Thailand: findings from a national survey. *Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology*, *57*(10), 1987–1997. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-022-02292-0</u>

⁸⁹ Rimes, K. A., Shivakumar, S., Ussher, G., Baker, D., Rahman, Q., & West, E. (2019). Psychosocial Factors Associated With Suicide Attempts, Ideation, and Future Risk in Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Youth. *Crisis*, *40*(2), 83–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000527</u> 37

⁹⁰ Ferlatte, O., Salway, T., Oliffe, J. L., & Trussler, T. (2017). Stigma and suicide among gay and bisexual men living with HIV. *AIDS care*, *29*(11), 1346–1350. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2017.1290762</u>

⁹¹ Mayer, L., Rüsch, N., Frey, L. M., Nadorff, M. R., Drapeau, C. W., Sheehan, L., & Oexle, N. (2020). Anticipated Suicide Stigma, Secrecy, and Suicidality among Suicide Attempt Survivors. *Suicide & life-threatening behavior*, *50*(3), 706–713. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12617</u>

⁹² Carpiniello, B., & Pinna, F. (2017). The Reciprocal Relationship between Suicidality and Stigma. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, *8*, 35. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00035</u>

⁹³ Priest, N. C., Paradies, Y. C., Gunthorpe, W., Cairney, S. J., & Sayers, S. M. (2011). Racism as a determinant of social and emotional wellbeing for Aboriginal Australian youth. *The Medical journal of Australia*, *194*(10), 546–550. <u>https://doi.org/10.5694/j.1326-5377.2011.tb03099.x</u>

⁹⁴ SBS. (2017). Racism and Suicide within the aboriginal community. Available from: <u>Racism and Suicide within the aboriginal</u> <u>community | SBS English</u>

⁹⁵ Han, J., Batterham, P. J., Calear, A. L., & Ma, J. (2018). Seeking professional help for suicidal ideation: A comparison between Chinese and Australian university students. *Psychiatry research*, 270, 807–814. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2018.10.080</u>

⁹⁶ Batterham, P. J., Calear, A. L., & Christensen, H. (2013). Correlates of suicide stigma and suicide literacy in the community. *Suicide & life-threatening behavior*, *43*(4), 406–417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12026</u>

⁹⁷ Chan, W. I., Batterham, P., Christensen, H., & Galletly, C. (2014). Suicide literacy, suicide stigma and help-seeking intentions in Australian medical students. *Australasian psychiatry : bulletin of Royal Australian and New Zealand College of*

Psychiatrists, 22(2), 132–139. https://doi.org/10.1177/1039856214522528

⁹⁸ Devries K, Watts C, Yoshihama M, et al. Violence against women is strongly associated with suicide attempts: evidence from the WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence against women. Social Science & Medicine (1982).

2011 Jul;73(1):79-86. DOI: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.05.006. PMID: 21676510.

⁹⁹ Conner, K. R., Cerulli, C., & Caine, E. D. (2002). Threatened and attempted suicide by partner-violent male respondents petitioned to family violence court. *Violence and victims*, *17*(2), 115–125. https://doi.org/10.1891/vivi.17.2.115.33645

¹⁰⁰ Kafka, J. M., Moracco, K. B. E., Taheri, C., Young, B. R., Graham, L. M., Macy, R. J., & Proescholdbell, S. (2022). Intimate partner violence victimization and perpetration as precursors to suicide. *SSM - population health*, *18*, 101079. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2022.101079</u>

¹⁰¹ Cavanaugh, C. E., Messing, J. T., Del-Colle, M., O'Sullivan, C., & Campbell, J. C. (2011). Prevalence and correlates of suicidal behavior among adult female victims of intimate partner violence. *Suicide & life-threatening behavior*, *41*(4), 372–383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1943-278X.2011.00035.x</u>

¹⁰² Wolford-Clevenger, C., Grigorian, H., Brem, M. J., Florimbio, A. R., Elmquist, J., & Stuart, G. L. (2017). Associations of Emotional Abuse Types with Suicide Ideation among Dating Couples. *Journal of aggression, maltreatment & trauma, 26*(9), 1042–1054. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2017.1335821

¹⁰³ Eliason S. (2009). Murder-suicide: a review of the recent literature. *The journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law*, 37(3), 371–376.

¹⁰⁴ Knoll, J. L., & Hatters-Friedman, S. (2015). The Homicide-Suicide Phenomenon: Findings of Psychological Autopsies. *Journal of forensic sciences*, *60*(5), 1253–1257.

¹⁰⁵ State Coroner of Victoria. 2022. Findings into death without inquest. COR 2020 005578. Available from: <u>Microsoft Word -</u> 2022.04.11 - COR 2020 5578 - F38 Finding FINAL redacted .docx (coronerscourt.vic.gov.au)

¹⁰⁶ Office of the State Coroner Queensland. (2012). Findings of the inquest. COR 2011/1619, COR 2011/1620, COR 2011/1640 COR 2011/1641. Available from: <u>Coronial findings- Gold Coast murder-suicide findings (courts.qld.gov.au)</u>

¹⁰⁷ The Australian Institute of Criminology. (2008). Murder-Suicide in Australia. Crime facts info 176. Canberra. Available from: <u>Murder-suicide in Australia | Australian Institute of Criminology (aic.gov.au)</u>

¹⁰⁸ Queensland Government. (2022). <u>Domestic and Family Violence Death Review and Advisory Board: Collaborative</u> responses to risk, safety and dangerousness. Available from: Domestic and Family Violence Death Review and Advosiry Board <u>Annual Report 2021-22 (courts.gld.gov.au)</u>

¹⁰⁹ MacIsaac MB, Bugeja L, Weiland T, Dwyer J, Selvakumar K, Jelinek GA. Prevalence and Characteristics of Interpersonal Violence in People Dying from Suicide in Victoria, Australia. *Asia Pacific Journal of Public Health.* 2018;30(1):36-44.

¹¹⁰ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2021). Examination of hospital stays due to family and domestic violence 2010-11 to 2018-2019. Available from: <u>Examination of hospital stays due to family and domestic violence 2010–11 to 2018–19</u>, <u>Summary - Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (aihw.gov.au)</u>

¹¹¹ Carach, C., Grabosky, P. (1998). Murder-suicide in Australia. *Trends & issues in crime and criminal justice* no.82. Canberra. The Australian Institute of Criminology. Available from: <u>Murder-suicide in Australia | Australian Institute of Criminology</u> (aic.gov.au)

¹¹² Phillips, J. A., & Hempstead, K. (2017). Differences in US suicide rates by educational attainment, 2000–2014. *American journal of preventive medicine*, *53*(4), e123-e130.

¹¹³ Lorant, V., De Gelder, R., Kapadia, D., Borrell, C., Kalediene, R., Kovács, K., ... & Mackenbach, J. P. (2018). Socioeconomic inequalities in suicide in Europe: the widening gap. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *212*(6), 356-361.

¹¹⁴ Kosidou, K., Dalman, C., Fredlund, P., Lee, B. K., Galanti, R., Isacsson, G., & Magnusson, C. (2014). School performance and the risk of suicide attempts in young adults: a longitudinal population-based study. *Psychological medicine*, *44*(6), 1235-1243.

¹¹⁵ Sörberg Wallin, A., Zeebari, Z., Lager, A., Gunnell, D., Allebeck, P., & Falkstedt, D. (2018). Suicide attempt predicted by academic performance and childhood IQ: a cohort study of 26 000 children. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 137(4), 277-286.
 ¹¹⁶ Gunnell, D., Magnusson, P. K., & Rasmussen, F. (2005). Low intelligence test scores in 18 year old men and risk of suicide: cohort study. *Bmj*, 330(7484), 167.

¹¹⁷ Okechukwu FO, Ogba KTU, Nwufo JI, Ogba MO, Onyekachi BN, Nwanosike CI, Onyishi AB. (2022). Academic stress and suicidal ideation: moderating roles of coping style and resilience. *BMC Psychiatry*. 22(1):546.

¹¹⁸ Cheng, Y., Zhang, X. M., Ye, S. Y., Jin, H. M., & Yang, X. H. (2020). Suicide in Chinese Graduate Students: A Review From 2000 to 2019. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, *11*, 579745.

¹¹⁹ Aranas, K., Buenconsejo, J., Zalameda, C. (2020). Dimensions of school burnout as predictors of symptoms of anxiety, depression and suicidal ideation among college students. 1.33-42.

¹²⁰ Dyrbye, L. N., Thomas, M. R., Massie, F. S., Power, D. V., Eacker, A., Harper, W., Durning, S., Moutier, C., Szydlo, D. W., Novotny, P. J., Sloan, J. A., & Shanafelt, T. D. (2008). Burnout and suicidal ideation among U.S. medical students. *Annals of internal medicine*, 149(5), 334–341.

¹²¹ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare . (2022). Education, and employment as risk factors for suicide. Available from: Education & employment as risk factors for suicide - Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (aihw.gov.au)

¹²² Richardson, A. S., Bergen, H. A., Martin, G., Roeger, L., & Allison, S. (2005). Perceived academic performance as an indicator of risk of attempted suicide in young adolescents. *Archives of Suicide Research*, *9*(2), 163-176.

¹²³ Han, K. M., Chang, J., Won, E., Lee, M. S., & Ham, B. J. (2017). Precarious employment associated with depressive symptoms and suicidal ideation in adult wage workers. *Journal of affective disorders*, *218*, 201–209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2017.04.049</u>

¹²⁴ Sohrab Amiri (2022) Unemployment and suicide mortality, suicide attempts, and suicide ideation: A metaanalysis, International Journal of Mental Health, 51:4, 294-318, DOI: <u>10.1080/00207411.2020.1859347</u>

¹²⁵ Blakely, T. A., Collings, S. C., & Atkinson, J. (2003). Unemployment and suicide. Evidence for a causal association?. *Journal of epidemiology and community health*, *57*(8), 594–600. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.57.8.594</u>

¹²⁶ Milner, A., Page, A., & LaMontagne, A. D. (2013). Long-term unemployment and suicide: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *PloS one*, *8*(1), e51333. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051333

¹²⁷ Park S-M. Effects of work conditions on suicidal ideation among middle-aged adults in South Korea. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*. 2019;65(2):144-150.

¹²⁸ Dalglish, S.L., Melchior, M., Younes, N. *et al.* Work characteristics and suicidal ideation in young adults in France. Soc *Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol* 50, 613–620 (2015). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-014-0969-y</u>

¹²⁹ Howard M, Follmer K, Smith M, Tucker R, Zandt, E. 2021. Work and suicide: An interdisciplinary systematic literature review. *Journal of Organizational Behaviour.* 43 (2) 260-285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2519</u>

¹³⁰ Dutheil, F., Aubert, C., Pereira, B., Dambrun, M., Moustafa, F., Mermillod, M., Baker, J. S., Trousselard, M., Lesage, F. X., & Navel, V. (2019). Suicide among physicians and health-care workers: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS*

one, 14(12), e0226361. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0226361

¹³¹ Marie Andela (2021) Work-related stressors and suicidal ideation: The mediating role of burnout, Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health, 36:2, 125-145, DOI: <u>10.1080/15555240.2021.1897605</u>

¹³² Reeves, A., McKee, M., Gunnell, D., Chang, S. S., Basu, S., Barr, B., & Stuckler, D. (2015). Economic shocks, resilience, and male suicides in the Great Recession: cross-national analysis of 20 EU countries. *European journal of public health*, *25*(3), 404–409. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/cku168

¹³³ Jones-Fairnie, H., Ferroni, P., Silburn, S., & Lawrence, D. (2008). Suicide in Australian veterinarians. *Australian veterinary journal*, *86*(4), 114–116. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-0813.2008.00277.x

¹³⁴ Case R, Alabakis J, Bowles K-A, Smith K: Suicide prevention in high-risk occupations: an Evidence Check rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute (<u>www.saxinstitute.org.au</u>) for the NSW Ministry of Health, 2020.

¹³⁵ Maheen, H., Taouk, Y., LaMontagne, A.D. *et al.* Suicide trends among Australian construction workers during years 2001–2019. *Sci Rep* **12**, 20201 (2022). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-24575-x</u>

¹³⁶ Petrie, K., Crawford, J., Shand, F., & Harvey, S. B. (2021). Workplace stress, common mental disorder and suicidal ideation in junior doctors. *Internal medicine journal*, *51*(7), 1074–1080. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/imj.15124</u>

¹³⁷ Adam Skinner et al. (2023). Unemployment and underemployment are causes of suicide.ScienceAdvances.9,eadg3758(2023).DOI:10.1126/sciadv.adg3758

¹³⁸ Suicide Prevention Australia. [Internet]. 2022. Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker; 2022 [cited 2022 Dec 22]. Available from: <u>Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker - Suicide Prevention Australia</u>.

¹³⁹ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare.(2022). Education, and employment as risk factors for suicide. Available from: Education & employment as risk factors for suicide - Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (aihw.gov.au)

¹⁴⁰ Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2021). Causes of Death, Australia. ABS. <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/causes-death-australia/latest-release</u>.

¹⁴¹ Ferdi Botha, Viet H. Nguyen, Opposite nonlinear effects of unemployment and sentiment on male and female suicide rates: Evidence from Australia, Social Science & Medicine, Volume 292, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114536.

¹⁴² Milner, A., Currier, D., LaMontagne, A. D., Spittal, M. J., & Pirkis, J. (2017). Psychosocial job stressors and thoughts about suicide among males: a cross-sectional study from the first wave of the Ten to Men cohort. *Public health*, *147*, 72–76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2017.02.003</u>

¹⁴³ Routley, V. H., & Ozanne-Smith, J. E. (2012). Work-related suicide in Victoria, Australia: a broad perspective. *International journal of injury control and safety promotion*, *19*(2), 131–134. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17457300.2011.635209</u>

¹⁴⁴ Yang AC, Tsai SJ, Huang NE. Decomposing the association of completed suicide with air pollution, weather, and unemployment data at different time scales. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2011 Mar;129(1-3):275-281. DOI: 10.1016/j.jad.2010.08.010. PMID: 20828830.

¹⁴⁵ Kim, C., Jung, S. H., Kang, D. R., Kim, H. C., Moon, K. T., Hur, N. W., Shin, D. C., & Suh, I. (2010). Ambient particulate matter as a risk factor for suicide. *The American journal of psychiatry*, *167*(9), 1100–1107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.09050706</u>

¹⁴⁶ Kim, Y., Myung, W., Won, H. H., Shim, S., Jeon, H. J., Choi, J., Carroll, B. J., & Kim, D. K. (2015). Association between air pollution and suicide in South Korea: a nationwide study. *PloS one*, *10*(2), e0117929. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0117929</u>

¹⁴⁷ Amanda V. Bakian, Rebekah S. Huber, Hilary Coon, Douglas Gray, Phillip Wilson, William M. McMahon, Perry F. Renshaw, Acute Air Pollution Exposure and Risk of Suicide Completion, *American Journal of Epidemiology*, Volume 181, Issue 5, 1 March 2015, Pages 295–303

¹⁴⁸ Mergler, D., Philibert A., Fillion M., Silva J. (2023). The Contribution across Three Generations of Mercury Exposure to Attempted Suicide among Children and Youth in Grassy Narrows First Nation, Canada: An Intergenerational Analysis.131(7). https://doi/full/10.1289/EHP11301

¹⁴⁹ Helbich, M., De Beurs, D., Kwan, M. P., O'Connor, R. C., & Groenewegen, P. P. (2018). Natural environments and suicide mortality in the Netherlands: a cross-sectional, ecological study. *The Lancet Planetary Health*, *2*(3), e134-e139.

¹⁵⁰ Min, K. B., Kim, H. J., Kim, H. J., & Min, J. Y. (2017). Parks and green areas and the risk for depression and suicidal indicators. *International journal of public health*, 62, 647-656.

¹⁵¹ Shen, Y. S., & Lung, S. C. C. (2018). Identifying critical green structure characteristics for reducing the suicide rate. *Urban Forestry* & *Urban Greening*, 34, 147-153.

¹⁵² Wang, P., Goggins, W. B., Zhang, X., Ren, C., & Lau, K. K. L. (2020). Association of urban built environment and socioeconomic factors with suicide mortality in high-density cities: A case study of Hong Kong. *Science of the total environment*, *739*, 139877.

¹⁵³ Min, J. Y., & Min, K. B. (2018). Night noise exposure and risk of death by suicide in adults living in metropolitan areas. *Depression and anxiety*, *35*(9), 876–883.

¹⁵⁴ Yoon, J. H., Won, J. U., Lee, W., Jung, P. K., & Roh, J. (2014). Occupational noise annoyance linked to depressive symptoms and suicidal ideation: a result from nationwide survey of Korea. *PloS one*, *9*(8).

¹⁵⁵ Wicki, B., Schäffer, B., Wunderli, J. M., Müller, T. J., Pervilhac, C., Röösli, M., & Vienneau, D. (2023). Suicide and Transportation Noise: A Prospective Cohort Study from Switzerland. *Environmental health perspectives*, *131*(3), 37013.

¹⁵⁶ Díaz, J., López-Bueno, J. A., López-Ossorio, J. J., Gónzález, J. L., Sánchez, F., & Linares, C. (2020). Short-term effects of traffic noise on suicides and emergency hospital admissions due to anxiety and depression in Madrid (Spain). *The Science of the total environment*, *710*, 136315.

¹⁵⁷ Suicide Prevention Australia. (2023) The Community Tracker. Available from: <u>https://www.suicidepreventionaust.org/community-tracker</u>

¹⁵⁸ The Department of Health and Aged Care. (2018). enHealth guidance: The health effects of environmental noise. Available from: <u>enHealth guidance – The health effects of environmental noise | Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care</u>. Available from: <u>enHealth guidance – The health effects of environmental noise | Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care</u>. Available from: <u>enHealth guidance – The health effects of environmental noise | Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care</u>. Available from: <u>enHealth guidance – The health effects of environmental noise | Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care</u>. ¹⁵⁹ Brausch, A. M., & Decker, K. M. (2014). Self-esteem and social support as moderators of depression, body image, and disordered eating

¹⁵⁹ Brausch, A. M., & Decker, K. M. (2014). Self-esteem and social support as moderators of depression, body image, and disordered eating for suicidal ideation in adolescents. *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, *42*, 779-789.

¹⁶⁰ Hollis, C. (1996). Depression, family environment, and adolescent suicidal behavior. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, **35**, 622–630.

¹⁶¹ Fergusson, D. M., Woodward, L. J., & Horwood, L. J. (2000). Risk factors and life processes associated with the onset of suicidal behaviour during adolescence and early adulthood. *Psychological Medicine*, *30*(1), 23–39.

¹⁶² Connor, J. J., & Rueter, M. A. (2006). Parent-child relationships as systems of support or risk for adolescent

suicidality. *Journal of family psychology : JFP : journal of the Division of Family Psychology of the American Psychological Association (Division 43), 20*(1), 143–155. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.20.1.143

¹⁶³ Holland, K. M., Vivolo-Kantor, A. M., Logan, J. E., & Leemis, R. W. (2017). Antecedents of Suicide among Youth Aged 11-15: A Multistate Mixed Methods Analysis. *Journal of youth and adolescence*, *46*(7), 1598–1610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-016-0610-3</u>

 ¹⁶⁴ The Trevor Project. (2023). Mental Health of Black Transgender and Nonbinary Young People. Available from: <u>https://www.thetrevorproject.org/research-briefs/mental-health-of-black-transgender-and-nonbinary-young-people-feb-2023/</u>
 ¹⁶⁵ Batterham, P. J., Fairweather-Schmidt, A. K., Butterworth, P., Calear, A. L., Mackinnon, A. J., & Christensen, H. (2014). Temporal effects of separation on suicidal thoughts and behaviours. *Social Science & Medicine*, *111*, 58-63.

¹⁶⁶ The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2023). Psychosocial risk factors and deaths by suicide. Available from: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/suicide-self-harm-monitoring/data/behaviours-risk-factors/psychosocial-risk-factors-suicide</u>

¹⁶⁷ The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2021). Connection between family, kinship, and social and emotional wellbeing. Available from: <u>https://www.indigenousmhspc.gov.au/getattachment/e129c621-58a4-4966-8730-</u> dcf6e3a533a8/dudgeon-et-al-2021-family-kinship-20210802.pdf

¹⁶⁸ Ju, Y. J., Park, E. C., Han, K. T., Choi, J. W., Kim, J. L., Cho, K. H., & Park, S. (2016). Low socioeconomic status and suicidal ideation among elderly individuals. *International psychogeriatrics*, *28*(12), 2055–2066. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610216001149</u>

¹⁶⁹ Choi, J. W., Kim, T. H., Shin, J., & Han, E. (2019). Poverty and suicide risk in older adults: A retrospective longitudinal cohort study. *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, *34*(11), 1565–1571. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.5166</u>

¹⁷⁰ Raschke, N., Mohsenpour, A., Aschentrup, L. *et al.* Socioeconomic factors associated with suicidal behaviors in South Korea: systematic review on the current state of evidence. *BMC Public Health* **22**, 129 (2022). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-12498-1</u>

¹⁷¹ Dupéré V, Leventhal T, Lacourse E. Neighborhood poverty and suicidal thoughts and attempts in late adolescence. Psychol Med. 2009 Aug;39(8):1295-306. doi: 10.1017/S003329170800456X. Epub 2008 Oct 10. PMID: 18845013.

¹⁷² Hoffmann JA, Farrell CA, Monuteaux MC, Fleegler EW, Lee LK. Association of Pediatric Suicide with County-Level Poverty in the United States, 2007-2016. *JAMA Pediatr.* 2020;174(3):287–294. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2019.5678

¹⁷³ Kaufman JA, Salas-Hernández LK, Komro KA, *et al* Effects of increased minimum wages by unemployment rate on suicide in the USA. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2020; 74:219-224.

¹⁷⁴ Sueki H. (2019). Relationship between annual household income and suicidal ideation: a cross-sectional study. *Psychology, health & medicine*, 24(1), 76–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2018.1515494

¹⁷⁵ Naranjo, D. E., Glass, J. E., & Williams, E. C. (2021). Persons With Debt Burden Are More Likely to Report Suicide Attempt Than Those Without: A National Study of US Adults. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry*, *8*2(3), 19m13184. <u>https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.19m13184</u>

¹⁷⁶Richardson, T., Elliott, P., & Roberts, R. (2013). The relationship between personal unsecured debt and mental and physical health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical psychology review*, *33*(8), 1148–1162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2013.08.009

¹⁷⁷ Chang, Shu-Sen, David Stuckler, Paul Siu Fai Yip and David Gunnell. "Impact of 2008 global economic crisis on suicide: time trend study in 54 countries." *The BMJ* 347 (2013)

¹⁷⁸ Er, S. T., Demir, E., & Sari, E. (2023). Suicide and economic uncertainty: New findings in a global setting. *SSM - population health*, *22*, 101387.

¹⁷⁹ Longitudinal analysis of income uncertainty - Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (aihw.gov.au)

¹⁸⁰ Milner, A., Morrell, S., & LaMontagne, A. D. (2014). Economically inactive, unemployed and employed suicides in Australia by age and sex over a 10-year period: what was the impact of the 2007 economic recession?. *International journal of epidemiology*, *43*(5), 1500–1507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyu148</u>

¹⁸¹ The Salvation Army. Cost of Living Crisis: 77% of Australia's hardest hit will go without food this Christmas, Salvation Army research finds. <u>COST OF LIVING CRISIS: 77% of Australia's hardest hit will go without food this Christmas, Salvation Army research finds I The Salvation Armv Australia
¹⁸² Too LS, Law PCF, Spittal MJ, Page A, Milner A. Widening socioeconomic inequalities in Australian suicide, despite recent declines in</u>

¹⁰⁴ Too LS, Law PCF, Spittal MJ, Page A, Milner A. Widening socioeconomic inequalities in Australian suicide, despite recent declines in suicide rates. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology. 2018 Sep;53(9):969-976. DOI: 10.1007/s00127-018-1527-9. PMID: 29713729. 41

¹⁸³ Taylor, R., Page, A., Morrell, S., Harrison, J., & Carter, G. (2005). Mental health and socio-economic variations in Australian suicide. *Social science & medicine (1982)*, *61*(7), 1551–1559. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.02.009</u>

¹⁸⁴ Australian Institue of Health and Welfare. Henley G & Harrison JE 2019. <u>Injury mortality and socioeconomic influence in</u> <u>Australia, 2015–16</u>. Injury research and statistics series no. 128. Cat. no. INJCAT 208. Canberra: AIHW.

¹⁸⁵ Suicide by socioeconomic areas - Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (aihw.gov.au)

¹⁸⁶ Psychosocial risk factors & suicide - Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (aihw.gov.au)

¹⁸⁷ Suicide Prevention Australia. [Internet]. 2022. Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker; 2022 [cited 2022 Dec 22]. Available from: <u>Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker - Suicide Prevention Australia</u>.

¹⁸⁸ Davison, K.M., Marshall-Fabien, G.L. & Tecson, A. (20150. Association of moderate and severe food insecurity with suicidal ideation in adults: national survey data from three Canadian provinces. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology* 50, 963–972.

¹⁸⁹ Koyanagi, A., Stubbs, B., Oh, H., Veronese, N., Smith, L., Haro, J. M., & Vancampfort, D. (2019). Food insecurity (hunger) and suicide attempts among 179,771 adolescents attending school from 9 high-income, 31 middle-income, and 4 low-income countries: A cross-sectional study. *Journal of affective disorders*, *248*, 91–98.

¹⁹⁰ Alaimo K., Olson C.M., Frongillo E.A. Family food insufficiency, but not low family income, is positively associated with dysthymia and suicide symptoms in adolescents. *J. Nutr.* 2002;132:719–725. doi: 10.1093/jn/132.4.719.

¹⁹¹ Nagata JM, Palar K, Gooding HC, Garber AK, Whittle HJ, Bibbins-Domingo K, Weiser SD. (2019). Food Insecurity Is Associated With Poorer Mental Health and Sleep Outcomes in Young Adults. J Adolesc Health. 65(6):805-811.

¹⁹² Graham, C., & Ciciurkaite, G. (2023). The Risk for Food Insecurity and Suicide Ideation among Young Adults in the United States: The Mediating Roles of Perceived Stress and Social Isolation. *Society and Mental Health*, *13*(1), 61–78.

¹⁹³ Ju, Y. J., Park, E. C., Han, K. T., Choi, J. W., Kim, J. L., Cho, K. H., & Park, S. (2016). Low socioeconomic status and suicidal ideation among elderly individuals. *International psychogeriatrics*, *28*(12), 2055–2066. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610216001149

¹⁹⁴ Lee, J., & Pak, T. Y. (2023). Longitudinal Associations Between Food Insecurity and Suicidal Ideation Among Adults Aged≥ 65 in the Korean Welfare Panel Study. *International journal of public health*, 68, 1605618.

¹⁹⁵ Dieticians Australia. (2015). Nutrition and mental health in food security. Updated May 2021. Available from: https://member.dietitiansaustralia.org.au/Common/Uploaded%20files/DAA/Resource_Library/MHANDi/MHANDi_2.2_Food_Sec urity.pdf

¹⁹⁶ Sherriff, S., Kalucy, D., Tong, A. *et al.* (2022). *Murradambirra Dhangaang* (make food secure): Aboriginal community and stakeholder perspectives on food insecurity in urban and regional Australia. *BMC Public Health* 22, 1066.

¹⁹⁷ The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2022). Food security and Indigenous mental health. Available from: <u>Food</u> <u>security and Indigenous mental health - AIHW Indigenous MHSPC</u>

¹⁹⁸ The Australian Institute of Family Studies. (2020) Understanding food insecurity in Australia. Available from: <u>Understanding</u> food insecurity in Australia | Australian Institute of Family Studies (aifs.gov.au)

¹⁹⁹ Kent, K., Murray, S., Visentin, D., Mawer, T., McGowan, C. J., Williams, A. D., Hardcastle, S., & Bridgman, H. (2022). High occurrence of food insecurity in young people attending a youth mental health service in regional Australia. *Nutrition & dietetics: the iournal of the Dietitians Association of Australia.* 79(3). 364–373.
 ²⁰⁰ Amiri, S., & Behnezhad, S. (2020). Alcohol use and risk of suicide: a systematic review and Meta-analysis. *Journal of addictive*

diseases, *38*(2), 200–213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10550887.2020.1736757</u>

²⁰¹ Wilcox, H. C., Conner, K. R., & Caine, E. D. (2004). Association of alcohol and drug use disorders and completed suicide: an empirical review of cohort studies. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, *76 Suppl*, S11–S19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2004.08.003

²⁰² Edwards AC, Ohlsson H, Sundquist J, Sundquist K, Kendler KS. Alcohol Use Disorder and Risk of Suicide in a Swedish Population-Based Cohort. The American Journal of Psychiatry. 2020 Jul;177(7):627-634. DOI: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.19070673. PMID: 32160767; PMCID: PMC8887810.

²⁰³ Lynch, F. L., Peterson, E. L., Lu, C. Y., Hu, Y., Rossom, R. C., Waitzfelder, B. E., Owen-Smith, A. A., Hubley, S., Prabhakar, D., Keoki Williams, L., Beck, A., Simon, G. E., & Ahmedani, B. K. (2020). Substance use disorders and risk of suicide in a general US population: a case control study. *Addiction science & clinical practice*, *15*(1), 14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13722-020-0181-1</u>

²⁰⁴ Esang, M. & Ahmed S. 2018. A Closer Look at Substance Use and Suicide. American Journal of Psychiatry Residents

Journal. 13 (6).

²⁰⁵ Abdalla, R. R., Miguel, A. C., Brietzke, E., Caetano, R., Laranjeira, R., & Madruga, C. S. (2019). Suicidal behavior among substance users: data from the Second Brazilian National Alcohol and Drug Survey (II BNADS). *Revista brasileira de psiquiatria (Sao Paulo, Brazil : 1999)*, *41*(5), 437–440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-4446-2018-0054</u>

²⁰⁶ Fresán, A., Dionisio-García, D. M., González-Castro, T. B., Ramos-Méndez, M. Á., Castillo-Avila, R. G., Tovilla-Zárate, C. A., Juárez-Rojop, I. E., López-Narváez, M. L., Genis-Mendoza, A. D., & Nicolini, H. (2022). Cannabis smoking increases the risk of

suicide ideation and suicide attempt in young individuals of 11-21 years: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journalof psychiatric research*, 153, 90–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2022.06.053

²⁰⁷ Underner, M., Perriot, J., de Chazeron, I., Brousse, G., Peiffer, G., Gherras, A., Harika-Germaneau, G., & Jaafari, N. (2023). What is the contribution of smoking to the increased risk of suicide in young smokers? A systematic review. *L'Encephale*, *49*(1), 72–86.

²⁰⁸ Echeverria, I., Cotaina, M., Jovani, A., Mora, R., Haro, G., & Benito, A. (2021). Proposal for the Inclusion of Tobacco Use in Suicide Risk Scales: Results of a Meta-Analysis. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *18*(11), 6103.

²⁰⁹ Li, D., Yang, X., Ge, Z., Hao, Y., Wang, Q., Liu, F., Gu, D., & Huang, J. (2012). Cigarette smoking and risk of completed suicide: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Journal of psychiatric research*, *46*(10), 1257–1266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.03.013

²¹⁰ Tubbs, A. S., Fernandez, F. X., Ghani, S. B., Karp, J. F., Patel, S. I., Parthasarathy, S., & Grandner, M. A. (2021). Prescription medications for insomnia are associated with suicidal thoughts and behaviors in two nationally representative samples. *Journal of clinical sleep medicine : JCSM : official publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine*, *17*(5), 1025–1030.

²¹¹ Brower, K. J., McCammon, R. J., Wojnar, M., Ilgen, M. A., Wojnar, J., & Valenstein, M. (2011). Prescription sleeping pills, insomnia, and suicidality in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry*, *72*(4), 515–521. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.09m05484gry

²¹² Valuck, R. J., Orton, H. D., & Libby, A. M. (2009). Antidepressant discontinuation and risk of suicide attempt: a retrospective, nested case-control study. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry*, *70*(8), 1069–1077.

²¹³ Dodds, Tyler. (2017). Prescribed Benzodiazepines and Suicide Risk: A Review of the Literature. The Primary Care Companion For CNS Disorders. 19. 10.4088/PCC.16r02037.

²¹⁴ Bohnert KM, Ilgen MA, Louzon S, et al.: Substance use disorders and the risk of suicide mortality among men and women in the US Veterans Health Administration. **Addiction** 2017; 112:1193–1201

²¹⁵ Fisher, A., Marel, C., Morley, K., Teesson, M., & Mills, K. (2020). The role of alcohol and other drugs in suicidal behaviour and effective interventions to reduce suicidal thoughts and behaviours: evidence check prepared for the National Suicide Prevention Task Force and commissioned through the Suicide Prevention Research Fund, managed by Suicide Prevention Australia - July 2020. University of Sydney. https://www.sydney.edu.au/content/dam/corporate/documents/matildacentre/resources/reports/aod-and-suicidal-behaviour-.pdf

²¹⁶ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2021). The health impact of suicide and self-inflicted injuries in Australia, 2019. Available from: <u>The health impact of suicide and self-inflicted injuries in Australia, 2019, Summary - Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (aihw.gov.au)</u>

²¹⁷ Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2021). Causes of Death, Australia. ABS. https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/causes-death/causes-death-australia/latest-release.

²¹⁸Chong, D. G., Buckley, N. A., Schumann, J. L., & Chitty, K. M. (2020). Acute alcohol use in Australian coronial suicide cases, 2010-2015. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, *212*, 108066. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108066</u>

²¹⁹ Clapperton, A., Newstead, S., Bugeja, L., & Pirkis, J. (2019). Relative risk of suicide following exposure to recent stressors, Victoria, Australia. *Australian and New Zealand journal of public health*, *43*(3), 254–260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12886</u>

²²⁰ Darke, S., & Kaye, S. (2004). Attempted suicide among injecting and noninjecting cocaine users in Sydney, Australia. *Journal of urban health : bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine*, *81*(3), 505–515. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jurban/jth134</u>

²²¹ Suicide Prevention Australia. [Internet]. 2022. Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker; 2022 [cited 2022 Dec 22]. Available from: <u>Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker - Suicide Prevention Australia</u>.

²²² Karlsson, A., & Håkansson, A. (2018). Gambling disorder, increased mortality, suicidality, and associated comorbidity: A longitudinal nationwide register study. *Journal of behavioral addictions*, 7(4), 1091–1099. https://doi.org/10.1556/2006.7.2018.112

²²³ Wardle, H., & McManus, S. (2021). Suicidality and gambling among young adults in Great Britain: results from a crosssectional online survey. *The Lancet. Public health*, 6(1), e39–e49. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30232-2

²²⁴ Wardle, H., John, A., Dymond, S., & McManus, S. (2020). Problem gambling and suicidality in England: secondary analysis of a representative cross-sectional survey. *Public health*, *184*, 11–16.

²²⁵ Wong, P. W., Kwok, N. C., Tang, J. Y., Blaszczynski, A., & Tse, S. (2014). Suicidal ideation and familicidal-suicidal ideation among individuals presenting to problem gambling services: a retrospective data analysis. *Crisis*, *35*(4), 219–232.

²²⁶ Battersby, M., Tolchard, B., Scurrah, M., & Thomas, L. (2006). Suicide Ideation and Behaviour in People with Pathological Gambling Attending a Treatment Service. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction, 4*(3), 233–246.

²²⁷ De Castella, A., Bolding, P., Lee, A., Cosic, S., & Kulkarni, J. (2011). Problem gambling in people presenting to a public mental health service: Final report. Melbourne: State Government of Victoria, Monash University

IMAGINE A WORLD WITHOUT SUICIDE suicidepreventionaust.org

health service: Final report. Melbourne: State Government of Victoria, Monash University

43

²²⁸ Office of Responsible Gambling. (2019). Gambling Help Services: Annual Activity Report 2018/19. NSW Government (referenced from Gambling Inquiry submission)

²²⁹ Ayano G, Tsegay L, Abraha M, Kalkidan Yohannes. Suicidal ideation and attempt among homeless people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychiatr Q. 2019 Dec;90(4):829-842.

²³⁰ Bommersbach T, Stefanovics E, Rhee T, Tsai J, Rosenheck R. Suicide attempts and homelessness: timing of attempts among recently homeless, past homeless, and never homeless adults. Psychiatr Serv. 2022 Dec;71(12):1225-1231.

²³¹ Eynan R, Langley J, Tolomiczenko G, Rhodes A, Links P, Wasylenki D, Goering P. The association between homelessness and suicidal ideation and behaviours: results of a cross-sectional survey. Suicide Life Threat Behav. 2002;32(4):418-427.

²³² Fowler K, Gladden R, Vagi K, Barnes J, Frazier L. Increase in suicides associated with home eviction and foreclosure during the US housing crisis: findings from 16 national violent death reporting system states, 2005-2010. Am J Public Health. 2015 Feb;105(2):311-316.

²³³ Cusack M, Montgomery A, Cashy J, Dichter M, Byrne T, Blosnich J. Examining veteran housing instability and mortality by homicide, suicide and unintentional injury. J Soc Distress Homeless. 2020 Aug;30(2);174-180.

²³⁴ Brackertz Nicola. The role of housing insecurity and homelessness in suicidal behaviour and effective interventions to reduce suicidal thoughts and behaviours: a review of the evidence. 2022. Evidence Check prepared by AHURI for the National Suicide Prevention Adviser and the National Suicide Prevention Taskforce, commissioned through the Suicide Prevention Research Fund, managed by Suicide Prevention Australia, AHURI Limited, Melbourne

²³⁵ Arnautovska, U., Sveticic, J. & De Leo, D. What differentiates homeless persons who died by suicide from other suicides in Australia? A comparative analysis using a unique mortality register. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 49, 583-589 (2014). ²³⁶ Sibthorpe, B., Drinkwater, J., Gardner, K., & Bammer, G. (1995). Drug use, binge drinking and attempted suicide among homeless and potentially homeless youth. The Australian and New Zealand journal of psychiatry, 29(2), 248-256.

²³⁷ Babidge, N. C., Buhrich, N., & Butler, T. (2001). Mortality among homeless people with schizophrenia in Sydney, Australia: a 10-year follow-up. Acta psychiatrica Scandinavica, 103(2), 105-110. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0447.2001.00192.x

²³⁸ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2023) Suicide & self-harm monitoring. Psychosocial risk factors and deaths by suicide. Available from: Psychosocial risk factors & suicide - Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (aihw.gov.au)

²³⁹ Suicide Prevention Australia. [Internet]. 2023. Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker; 2023 [cited 2023 Jul 24]. Available from: Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker - Suicide Prevention Australia.

240 Barbosa, L. P., Quevedo, L., da Silva, G.delG., Jansen, K., Pinheiro, R. T., Branco, J., Lara, D., Oses, J., & da Silva, R. A. (2014). Childhood trauma and suicide risk in a sample of young individuals aged 14-35 years in southern Brazil. Child abuse & neglect, 38(7), 1191-1196.

²⁴¹ Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Nordenberg D, Williamson DF, Spitz AM, Edwards V, Koss MP, Marks JS. Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults. The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. Am J Prev Med. 1998 May;14(4):245-58. doi: 10.1016/s0749-3797(98)00017-8. PMID: 9635069.

²⁴² Thompson, M. P., Kingree, J. B., & Lamis, D. (2019). Associations of adverse childhood experiences and suicidal behaviors in adulthood in a U.S. nationally representative sample. Child: care, health and development, 45(1), 121-128.

²⁴³ Wong, W. H., Kuo, W. H., Sobolewski, C., Bhatia, I., & Ip, P. (2020). The Association Between Child Abuse and Attempted Suicide. Crisis, 41(3), 196-204.

²⁴⁴ Obikane, E., Shinozaki, T., Takagi, D., & Kawakami, N. (2018). Impact of childhood abuse on suicide-related behavior: Analysis using marginal structural models. Journal of affective disorders, 234, 224-230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.02.034

²⁴⁵Angelakis I, Austin JL, Gooding P. Association of Childhood Maltreatment With Suicide Behaviors Among Young People: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(8):e2012563. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.12563 ²⁴⁶ Bahk, Y. C., Jang, S. K., Choi, K. H., & Lee, S. H. (2017). The Relationship between Childhood Trauma and Suicidal Ideation: Role of Maltreatment and Potential Mediators. Psychiatry investigation, 14(1), 37-43.

²⁴⁷ Easton, S. D., Renner, L. M., & O'Leary, P. (2013). Suicide attempts among men with histories of child sexual abuse: Examining abuse severity, mental health, and masculine norms. Child Abuse & Neglect, 37(6), 380-387.

²⁴⁸ Bahk, Y. C., Jang, S. K., Choi, K. H., & Lee, S. H. (2017). The Relationship between Childhood Trauma and Suicidal Ideation: Role of Maltreatment and Potential Mediators. Psychiatry investigation, 14(1), 37-43.

²⁴⁹ The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2021. The health impact of suicide and self-inflicted injuries in Australia, 2019. Available from: The health impact of suicide and self-inflicted injuries in Australia, 2019, Summary - Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (aihw.gov.au)

²⁵⁰ Analysis & Policy Observatory. 2013. Betrayal of trust: inquiry into the handling of child abuse by religious and other nongovernment organisations. Available from: Betrayal of trust: inquiry into the handling of child abuse by religious and other nongovernment organisations (apo.org.au)

²⁵¹ Horney, J. A., Karaye, I. M., Abuabara, A., Gearhart, S., Grabich, S., & Perez-Patron, M. (2021). The Impact of Natural Disasters on Suicide in the United States, 2003-2015. Crisis, 42(5), 328-334.

44

²⁵² Kölves, K., Kölves, K. E., & De Leo, D. (2013). Natural disasters and suicidal behaviours: a systematic literature review. *Journal of affective disorders*, *146*(1), 1–14.

²⁵³ Mukhtar, F., & Candilis, P. (2022). Pandemics and Suicide Risk: Lessons From COVID and Its Predecessors. *The Journal of nervous and mental disease*, *210*(10), 799–807.

²⁵⁴ Yan, Y., Hou, J., Li, Q., & Yu, N. X. (2023). Suicide before and during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Systematic Review with Meta-Analysis. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *20*(4), 3346.

²⁵⁵ Hanigan IC, Chaston TB. Climate Change, Drought and Rural Suicide in New South Wales, Australia: Future Impact Scenario Projections to 2099. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 2022; 19(13):7855.

²⁵⁶ Hanigan IC, Butler CD, Kokic PN, Hutchinson MF. Suicide and drought in New South Wales, Australia, 1970-2007. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012 Aug 28;109(35):13950-5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1112965109. Epub 2012 Aug 13. PMID: 22891347; PMCID: PMC3435226.

²⁵⁷ Suicide Prevention Australia. [Internet]. 2022. Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker; 2022 [cited 2022 Dec 22]. Available from: <u>Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker - Suicide Prevention Australia</u>.

²⁵⁸ Nicholls, N., Butler, C. D., & Hanigan, I. (2006). Inter-annual rainfall variations and suicide in New South Wales, Australia, 1964-2001. *International journal of biometeorology*, *50*(3), 139–143.

²⁵⁹ Zara, C., Parkinson, D., Duncan, A., & Joyce, K. (2016). Men and disaster: Men's experiences of the Black Saturday bushfires and the aftermath. *Australian Journal of Emergency Management*, *31*(3), 40-48.

²⁶⁰ After the fires: the impacts of the 2019-2020 black summer bushfires on the wellbeing of emergency service personnel. Wave 1 executive summary. Available from: <u>After-the-Fires-Survey-Report-Exec-Summary-Wave-1.pdf (uwa.edu.au)</u>

²⁶¹ Matthews, V., Longman, J., Berry, H. L., Passey, M., Bennett-Levy, J., Morgan, G. G., Pit, S., Rolfe, M., & Bailie, R. S. (2019). Differential Mental Health Impact Six Months After Extensive River Flooding in Rural Australia: A Cross-Sectional Analysis Through an Equity Lens. *Frontiers in public health*, *7*, 367.

²⁶² De Leo, D., Too, L.S., Kõlves, K., Milner, A.J., & Ide, N. (2013). Has the Suicide Rate Risen with the 2011 Queensland Floods? *Journal of Loss and Trauma, 18*, 170 - 178.

²⁶³ Page, L. A., Hajat, S., & Kovats, R. S. (2007). Relationship between daily suicide counts and temperature in England and Wales. *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science*, *191*, 106–112.

²⁶⁴ Thompson R, Hornigold R, Page L, Waite T. Associations between high ambient temperatures and heat waves with mental health outcomes: a systematic review. Public Health. 2018 Aug;161:171-191. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2018.06.008. Epub 2018 Jul 12. PMID: 30007545.

²⁶⁵ Burke, M., González, F., Baylis, P. *et al.* Higher temperatures increase suicide rates in the United States and Mexico. *Nature Clim Change* **8**, 723–729 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0222-x

²⁶⁶ Hayes K, Blashki G, Wiseman J, Burke S, Reifels L. Climate change and mental health: risks, impacts and priority actions. Int J Ment Health Syst. 2018 Jun 1;12:28. doi: 10.1186/s13033-018-0210-6. PMID: 29881451; PMCID: PMC5984805.

²⁶⁷ Kim, J., Choi, N., Lee, Y. J., An, H., Kim, N., Yoon, H. K., & Lee, H. J. (2014). High altitude remains associated with elevated suicide rates after adjusting for socioeconomic status: a study from South Korea. *Psychiatry investigation*, *11*(4), 492–494.

²⁶⁸ Brenner, B., Cheng, D., Clark, S., & Camargo, C. A., Jr (2011). Positive association between altitude and suicide in 2584

U.S. counties. High altitude medicine & biology, 12(1), 31-35.

²⁶⁹ Brown, A., Hellem, T., Schreiber, J., Buerhaus, P., & Colbert, A. (2022). Suicide and altitude: A systematic review of global literature. *Public health nursing (Boston, Mass.)*, *39*(5), 1167–1179.

²⁷⁰ Kious, B. M., Bakian, A., Zhao, J., Mickey, B., Guille, C., Renshaw, P., & Sen, S. (2019). Altitude and risk of depression and anxiety: findings from the intern health study. *International review of psychiatry (Abingdon, England)*, *31*(7-8), 637–645.

²⁷¹ Doctors for the Environment Australia. (2021). How Climate Change Affects Mental Health in Australia. Available from: <u>Report-How-Climate-Change-Affects-Mental-Health-in-Australia-v3-1.pdf (dea.org.au)</u>

²⁷² Liu, J., Varghese, B. M., Hansen, A., Xiang, J., Zhang, Y., Dear, K., Gourley, M., Driscoll, T., Morgan, G., Capon, A., & Bi, P. (2021). Is there an association between hot weather and poor mental health outcomes? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Environment International*, *153*, [106533]. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106533

²⁷³ Queensland University of Technology. "Climate change linked to increase in Australia's suicide rates, study shows." ScienceDaily. ScienceDaily, 19 February 2014. <www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2014/02/140219095515.htm>.

²⁷⁴ Qi, X., Tong, S., & Hu, W. (2009). Preliminary spatiotemporal analysis of the association between socio-environmental factors and suicide. *Environmental health: a global access science source*, *8*, 46.

²⁷⁵ Qi, X., Hu, W., Mengersen, K., & Tong, S. (2014). Socio-environmental drivers and suicide in Australia: Bayesian spatial analysis. *BMC public health*, *14*, 681.

²⁷⁶ Suicide Prevention Australia. [Internet]. 2022. Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker; 2022 [cited 2022 Dec 22]. Available from: <u>Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker - Suicide Prevention Australia</u>. 45 ²⁷⁷ Qi, X., Hu, W., Page, A. *et al.* Associations between climate variability, unemployment and suicide in Australia: a multicity study. *BMC Psychiatry* **15**, 114 (2015).

²⁷⁸ Krysinska, K., Lester, D., & Martin, G. (2009). Suicidal behavior after a traumatic event. *Journal of Trauma Nursing*| *JTN*, *16*(2), 103-110.

²⁷⁹ Salman, N. A., Camit, C. J., & Bongar, B. (2017). Suicide as a Response to Trauma. *Handbook of Suicidal Behaviour*, 121-137.

²⁸⁰ Ásgeirsdóttir, H. G., Valdimarsdóttir, U. A., Þorsteinsdóttir, Þ. K., Lund, S. H., Tomasson, G., Nyberg, U., Ásgeirsdóttir, T. L.,& Hauksdóttir, A. (2018). The association between different traumatic life events and suicidality. *European journal of Psychotraumatology*, 9(1), 1510279.

²⁸¹ Kimerling, R., Makin-Byrd, K., Louzon, S., Ignacio, R. V., & McCarthy, J. F. (2016). Military sexual trauma and suicide mortality. *American journal of preventive medicine*, 50(6), 684-691.

²⁸² Ursano, R. J., Stein, M. B., Herberman Mash, H. B., Naifeh, J. A., Fullerton, C. S., Zaslavsky, A. M., Ng, T. H. H., Aliaga, P. A., Wynn, G. H., Dinh, H. M., McCarroll, J. E., Sampson, N. A., Kao, T. C., Schoenbaum, M., Heeringa, S. G., & Kessler, R. C. (2018). Documented family violence and risk of suicide attempt among U.S. Army soldiers. *Psychiatry research*, *262*, 575–582.
 ²⁸³ LeardMann, C. A., Matsuno, R. K., Boyko, E. J., Powell, T. M., Reger, M. A., Hoge, C. W., & Millennium Cohort Study (2021). Association of Combat Experiences With Suicide Attempts Among Active-Duty US Service Members. *JAMA network open*, *4*(2), e2036065.

²⁸⁴ Nichter, B., Hill, M., Norman, S., Haller, M., & Pietrzak, R. H. (2020). Impact of specific combat experiences on suicidal ideation and suicide attempt in U.S. military veterans: Results from the National Health and Resilience in Veterans

Study. Journal of psychiatric research, 130, 231–239.

²⁸⁵ The Trevor Project. (2022). Trauma and suicide risk among LGBTQ youth. Available from: https://www.thetrevorproject.org/research-briefs/trauma-and-suicide-risk-among-lgbtq-youth-july-2022/

²⁸⁶ Tommy's Together, for every baby. (2021). Miscarriage Matters: Findings from the Lancet Miscarriage Series and Implications for Policy with Recommendations. Available from: <u>https://www.tommys.org/sites/default/files/2021-</u>04/Miscarriage_Matters%20policy%20report%20FINAL%20without%20page%20numbers.pdf

²⁸⁷ Weng, S. C., Chang, J. C., Yeh, M. K., Wang, S. M., Lee, C. S., & Chen, Y. H. (2018). Do stillbirth, miscarriage, and termination of pregnancy increase risks of attempted and completed suicide within a year? A population-based nested case-control study. *BJOG : an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology*, *125*(8), 983–990.

²⁸⁸ Cioffi, C. C., Schweer-Collins, M. L., & Leve, L. D. (2022). Pregnancy and miscarriage predict suicide attempts but not substance use among dual-systems involved female adolescents. *Children and youth services review*, *137*, 106494.

²⁸⁹ Goldney RD, Wilson D, Grande ED, Fisher LJ, McFarlane AC. Suicidal Ideation in a Random Community Sample: Attributable Risk Due to Depression and Psychosocial and Traumatic Events. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*. 2000;34(1):98-106.

²⁹⁰ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2023). Australia's mothers and babies: Maternal deaths. Available from: <u>Australia's mothers and babies: Maternal deaths - Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (aihw.gov.au)</u>

²⁹¹ Elias, B., Mignone, J., Hall, M., Hong, S. P., Hart, L., & Sareen, J. (2012). Trauma and suicide behaviour histories among a Canadian indigenous population: an empirical exploration of the potential role of Canada's residential school system. *Social science & medicine*, 74(10), 1560-1569.

²⁹² The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2023). Intergenerational trauma and mental health. Available from: Intergenerational trauma and mental health - AIHW Indigenous MHSPC

²⁹³ Dudgeon, P., Calma, T., & Holland, C. (2017). The context and causes of the suicide of Indigenous people in Australia. *The Journal of indigenous Wellbeing: Te Mauri*, 2(2), 5-15.

²⁹⁴ Ralph, N., Hamaguchi, K., Cox, M. (2006). Transgenerational trauma, suicide, and healing from sexual abuse in the Kimberley Region, Australia. Available from: https://journalindigenouswellbeing.co.nz/media/2018/10/6_Ralph.pdf

²⁹⁵ Western Australia State Coroner (2019) Inquest into the 13 Deaths of Children and Young Persons in the Kimberley Region

https://www.coronerscourt.wa.gov.au/l/inquest into the 13 deaths of children and young persons in the kimberley region

.aspx

²⁹⁶ ABC News. (2019). Cluster of Kimberley child suicides blamed by coroner on 'tragic intergenerational trauma'. Available from: Cluster of Kimberley child suicides blamed by coroner on 'tragic intergenerational trauma' - ABC News

²⁹⁷ Calati, R., Ferrari, C., Brittner, M., Oasi, O., Olié, E., Carvalho, A. F., & Courtet, P. (2019). Suicidal thoughts and behaviors and social isolation: A narrative review of the literature. *Journal of affective disorders*, 245, 653–667.

²⁹⁸ Cheryl A. King & Christopher R. Merchant (2008) Social and Interpersonal Factors Relating to Adolescent Suicidality: A Review of the Literature, Archives of Suicide Research, 12:3, 181-196

²⁹⁹ Tsai, A. C., Lucas, M., Sania, A., Kim, D., & Kawachi, I. (2014). Social integration and suicide mortality among men: 24-year cohort study of U.S. health professionals. *Annals of internal medicine*, *161*(2), 85–95.

³⁰⁰ Tsai, A. C., Lucas, M., & Kawachi, I. (2015). Association Between Social Integration and Suicide Among Women in the United States. *JAMA psychiatry*, 72(10), 987–993.

³⁰¹ Barry R, Rehm J, de Oliveira C, Gozdyra P, Chen S, Kurdyak P. Rurality as a Risk Factor for Attempted Suicide and Death by Suicide in Ontario, Canada. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*. 2022;67(9):679-689.

³⁰² Oliffe JL, Broom A, Popa M, Jenkins EK, Rice SM, Ferlatte O, Rossnagel E. Unpacking Social Isolation in Men's Suicidality.
 Qual Health Res. 2019 Feb;29(3):315-327. doi: 10.1177/1049732318800003. Epub 2018 Sep 15. PMID: 30222044.
 ³⁰³ Aran, N., Card, K. G., Lee, K., & Hogg, R. S. (2023). Patterns of Suicide and Suicidal Ideation in Relation to Social Isolationand Loneliness in Newcomer Populations: A Review. *Journal of immigrant and minority health*, *25*(2), 415–426. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-022-01422-9

³⁰⁴ Kegler SR, Stone DM, Holland KM. Trends in Suicide by Level of Urbanization - United States, 1999-2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2017 Mar 17;66(10):270-273. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6610a2. PMID: 28301448; PMCID: PMC5657870.

³⁰⁵ Steelesmith, D. L., Fontanella, C. A., Campo, J. V., Bridge, J. A., Warren, K. L., & Root, E. D. (2019). Contextual Factors Associated With County-Level Suicide Rates in the United States, 1999 to 2016. *JAMA network open*, *2*(9), e1910936.

³⁰⁶ Hazell T., Dalton H., Caton T., Perkins D. Rural Suicide and Its Prevention. Centre for Rural and Remote Mental Health;

Orange, NSW, Australia: 2017. [(accessed on 9 July 2019)]. Available

46

online: www.crrmh.com.au/content/uploads/RuralSuicidePreventionPaper 2017 WEB FINAL.pdf

³⁰⁷ Fitzpatrick, S. J., Handley, T., Powell, N., Read, D., Inder, K. J., Perkins, D., & Brew, B. K. (2021). Suicide in rural Australia: A retrospective study of mental health problems, health-seeking and service utilisation. *PloS one*, *16*(7), e0245271.

³⁰⁸ Caldwell, T. M., Jorm, A. F., & Dear, K. B. (2004). Suicide and mental health in rural, remote and metropolitan areas in Australia. *The Medical journal of Australia*, *181*(S7), S10–S14.

³⁰⁹ Barry R, Rehm J, de Oliveira C, Gozdyra P, Kurdyak P. Rurality and Risk of Suicide Attempts and Death by Suicide among People Living in Four English-speaking High-income Countries: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*. 2020;65(7):441-447.

³¹⁰ Player MJ, Proudfoot J, Fogarty A, Whittle E, Spurrier M, Shand F, et al. (2015) What Interrupts Suicide Attempts in Men: A Qualitative Study. PLoS ONE 10(6): e0128180. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0128180

³¹¹ Almeida, O. P., Draper, B., Snowdon, J., Lautenschlager, N. T., Pirkis, J., Byrne, G., Sim, M., Stocks, N., Flicker, L., & Pfaff,

J. J. (2012). Factors associated with suicidal thoughts in a large community study of older adults. *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science*, 201(6), 466–472. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.112.110130

³¹² Suicide Prevention Australia. [Internet]. 2022. Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker; 2022 [cited 2022 Dec 22]. Available from: <u>Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker - Suicide Prevention Australia</u>.

³¹³ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2019) Australian Burden of Disease Study: Impact and Causes of Illness and Death in Australia 2015. Series no.19. BOD 22. Canberra: AIHW.

³¹⁴ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Suicide & Self-harm Monitoring System. (2022). Deaths by suicide by remoteness area. Available from: <u>Suicide by remoteness areas</u> - Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (aihw.gov.au)

³¹⁵ Rudatsikira, E., Muula, A. S., Siziya, S., & Twa-Twa, J. (2007). Suicidal ideation and associated factors among school-going adolescents in rural Uganda. *BMC psychiatry*, 7, 67.

³¹⁶ Page, R. M., Yanagishita, J., Suwanteerangkul, J., Zarco, E. P., Mei-Lee, C., & Miao, N.-F. (2006). Hopelessness and Loneliness Among Suicide Attempters in School-Based Samples of Taiwanese, Philippine, and Thai Adolescents. *School Psychology International*, *27*(5), 583–598.

³¹⁷ Randall, J. R., Doku, D., Wilson, M. L., & Peltzer, K. (2014). Suicidal behaviour and related risk factors among school-aged youth in the Republic of Benin. *PloS one*, *9*(2), e88233.

³¹⁸ Manzar, M. D., Albougami, A., Usman, N., & Mamun, M. A. (2021). Suicide among adolescents and youths during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdowns: A press media reports-based exploratory study. *Journal of child and adolescent psychiatric nursing : official publication of the Association of Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Nurses, Inc*, 34(2), 139–146.

³¹⁹ Kidd, S. A. (2004). "The Walls Were Closing in, and We Were Trapped": A Qualitative Analysis of Street Youth Suicide. *Youth & Society*, 36(1), 30–55.

³²⁰ Schinka, K. C., Van Dulmen, M. H., Bossarte, R., & Swahn, M. (2012). Association between loneliness and suicidality during middle childhood and adolescence: longitudinal effects and the role of demographic characteristics. *The Journal of*

psychology, 146(1-2), 105-118.

³²¹ Gomboc, V., Krohne, N., Lavriö, M. *et al.* Emotional and Social Loneliness as Predictors of Suicidal Ideation in Different Age Groups. *Community Ment Health J* 58, 311–320 (2022).

³²² Gvion, Y., & Levi-Belz, Y. (2018). Serious Suicide Attempts: Systematic Review of Psychological Risk Factors. *Frontiers inpsychiatry*, 9, 56. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00056

³²³ Stravynski, A., & Boyer, R. (2001). Loneliness in relation to suicide ideation and parasuicide: a population-widestudy. *Suicide & life-threatening behavior*, *31*(1), 32–40.

³²⁴ McClelland, H., Evans, J. J., Nowland, R., Ferguson, E., & O'Connor, R. C. (2020). Loneliness as a predictor of suicidal ideation and behaviour: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Journal of affective disorders*, *274*, 880–896. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.05.004

³²⁵ De Leo, D. Late-life suicide in an aging world. Natur Aging 2, 7–12 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1038/s43587-021-00160-1

³²⁶ Niu, L., Jia, C., Ma, Z., Wang, G., Sun, B., Zhang, D., & Zhou, L. (2020). Loneliness, hopelessness and suicide in later life: acase-control psychological autopsy study in rural China. *Epidemiology and psychiatric sciences, 29*, e119. https://doi.org/10.1017/S2045796020000335

³²⁷ Australian Government. Australian Institute of Family Studies. (2020). Depression, suicidality, and loneliness: mental health and Australian men. Available from: https://aifs.gov.au/sites/default/files/mediarelease-ttm_insights-mental_health_0.pdf

³²⁸ Ten to Men: Australian Longitudinal Study on Male Health. (2023). Research findings: https://tentomen.org.au/research-findings

³²⁹ Suicide Prevention Australia. [Internet]. 2022. Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker; 2022 [cited 2022 Dec 22]. Available from: <u>Suicide Prevention Australia Community Tracker - Suicide Prevention Australia</u>.

³³⁰ Black Dog Institute. What can be done to decrease suicidal behaviour in Australia? A call to action. White Paper. October 1, 2020. Sydney, AU: Black Dog Institute, <u>https://www.blackdoginstitute.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/What-Can-Be-Done-To-Decrease-Suicide-a-call-to-action_Black-Dog-Institute.pdf</u>, p19.

³³¹ Wang, G., & Wu, L. (2021). Social determinants on suicidal thoughts among young adults. International journal ofenvironmental research and public health, 18(16), 8788.

³³² Guntuku, S. (2020). The need for shift in approach to suicide prevention in Australia. Open Journal of Social Sciences, 150-157.

³³³ Pirkis, J., Gunnell, D., Hawton, K., Hetrick, S., Niederkrotenthaler, T., Sinyor, M., ... & Robinson, J. (2023). A public health, whole-of-government approach to national suicide prevention strategies. *Crisis*.

³³⁴ Torres JM, Lawlor J, Colvin JD, et al. ICD social codes: an underutilized resource for tracking social needs. *MedCare*. 2017;**55**(9):810-816

³³⁵ Llamocca, E. N., Steelesmith, D. L., Ruch, D. A., Bridge, J. A., & Fontanella, C. A. (2023). Association between social determinants of health and deliberate self-harm among youths with psychiatric diagnoses. *Psychiatric services*, *74*(6), 574-580.³³⁶ Ilgün, G., Yetim, B., Demirci, Ş., & Konca, M. (2020). Individual and socio-demographic determinants of suicide: An examination on WHO countries. *International journal of social psychiatry*, *66*(2), 124-128.

³³⁷ Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2021). Causes of Death, Australia. ABS. <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/causes-death/causes-death-australia/latest-release</u>.

³³⁸ Suicide Prevention Australia. [Internet]. 2023. Suicide Prevention Australia Policy Position Statement: Priority Populations [cited March 2023]. Available from <u>https://www.suicidepreventionaust.org/wp-</u>content/uploads/2023/02/Policy-Position- PRIORITY-POPULATIONS.pdf

³³⁹ Johnson, Kaprea & Brookover, Dana. (2020). Counselors' Role in Decreasing Suicide in Mental Health ProfessionalShortage Areas in the United States. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*. 42. 10.17744/mehc.42.2.06.

³⁴⁰ Kapusta, N. D., Posch, M., Niederkrotenthaler, T., Fischer-Kern, M., Etzersdorfer, E., & Sonneck, G. (2010). Availability ofmental health service providers and suicide rates in Austria: a nationwide study. *Psychiatric services* (*Washington*,

D.C.), 61(12), 1198-1203.

³⁴¹ Tondo, L., Albert, M. J., & Baldessarini, R. J. (2006). Suicide rates in relation to health care access in the United States: anecological study. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 67(4), 517-523.

³⁴² Macrynikola, N., Auad, E., Menjivar, J., & Miranda, R. (2021). Does social media use confer suicide risk? A systematic review of the evidence. *Computers in Human Behaviour Reports. 3*(*2*):100094.

³⁴³ Sohn, M., Oh, H., Lee, S. K., & Potenza, M. N. (2018). Suicidal Ideation and Related Factors Among Korean High SchoolStudents: A Focus on Cyber Addiction and School Bullying. The Journal of School Nursing: the official publication of the National Association of School Nurses, 34(4), 310–318.



³⁴⁴ Davila, J., Hershenberg, R., Feinstein, B. A., Gorman, K., Bhatia, V., & Starr, L. R. (2012). Frequency and Quality of SocialNetworking Among Young Adults: Associations With Depressive Symptoms, Rumination, and Corumination. *Psychology of popular media culture*, *1*(2), 72–86. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027512

³⁴⁵ Center for Countering Digital Hate (2022). Deadly by Design: TikTok pushes harmful content promoting eating disorders andself-harm into users' feeds. Available from: <u>Deadly by Design — Center for Countering Digital Hate | CCDH (counterhate.com)</u> ³⁴⁶ Hinduja, S., & Patchin, J. W. (2019). Connecting adolescent suicide to the severity of bullying and cyberbullying. *Journal of school violence*, *18*(3), 333-346.

³⁴⁷ Kickbusch, I., Allen, L., & Franz, C. (2016). The commercial determinants of health. *The Lancet. Global health*, *4*(12), e895–e896. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(16)30217-0

³⁴⁸ Braithwaite, I., Zhang, S., Kirkbride, J. B., Osborn, D. P. J., & Hayes, J. F. (2019). Air Pollution (Particulate Matter) Exposureand Associations with Depression, Anxiety, Bipolar, Psychosis and Suicide Risk: A Systematic Review and Meta-

Analysis. Environmental health perspectives, 127(12), 126002. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP4595

³⁴⁹ FARE. (2020). An alcohol ad every 35 seconds. Available from: <u>https://fare.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2020-05-08-</u> <u>CCWA-FARE-An-alcohol-ad-every-35-seconds-A-snapshot-final.pd</u>f